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Key financial figures 

ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo (.000 BAM) 
31December 

2022 
31December 

2021 
Change 

BALANCE SHEET       

Cash, Central Bank and other financial institutions balances 267,323 185,165 44% 

Loans and advances to customers 541,481 504,322 7% 

Other assets 62,845 19,989 214% 

Liabilities to customers 665,517 457,656 45% 

Liabilities to banks and financial institutions (inc. subord. debt) 128,005 180,898 -29% 

Other liabilities 4,006 3,900 3% 

Equity 74,121 67,023 11% 

Balance sheet totals – financial position 871,649 709,476 23% 
 

   
STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS       

Net interest income 20,966 16,463 27% 

Loss allowances -2,203 -2,882 -24% 

Net fee and commission income 4,602 4,283 7% 

Operating income 28,431 23,552 21% 

Operating expenses -18,361 -17,619 4% 

Profit for the period 7,088 2,677 165%  

   
KEY INDICATORS       

Return on average equity (RoAE) 10% 4.80%   

Cost to Income Ratio 65% 76% -12 pp 

Deposit to loans (gross) 119% 87% 32 pp 

    
CAPITAL RATIOS       

RWA - Risk Weighted Assets 417,772 373,820 11.8% 

Capital Adequacy Ratio 17.80% 17.10% 0.7 pp 

    
OPERATIONS       

Employees 170 139 22% 

Business units 6 6   
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OUR MISSION  
Be the leading bank for SME 

 

 

 

 

Financial year in brief 

 

STRENGHTENED MARKET 
POSITION  

 

 “Housebank” concept as catalyst to support 

SMEs in a challenging market environment 

 Strong portfolio growth of 7% 

 Share of “green loans” in total loan portfolio 20% 

 Deposit growth of 45% 

 NPL share of 2.7% 

 Improved internal environmental footprint 

 

 

GUIDANCE FOR 2023 
 

 

 Planned growth of new clients 

 Above market average customer deposit and loan 

portfolio growth 

 Further increase of share of  “green loans” in 

total loan portfolio 

 Improved cost/income ratio 

 Operation income growth 

 Capital adequacy ratio, above regulatory limits 
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BASIC INFORMATION ABOUT PROCREDIT BANK 

Strategy 

ProCredit Bank is focused on providing banking services to small and medium enterprises as well as direct 
banking services to individuals. The Bank operates within the ProCredit Group, which operates in Southeast 
Europe, Eastern Europe, South America and Germany. The owner of the bank is ProCredit Holding based 
in Frankfurt am Main, Germany. 

Through business activities, we strive to achieve a stable return on invested capital of shareholders while 
contributing to economic, social and environmental development in the areas of business. The business 
strategy of the Bank is based on a long-term relationship with our clients and employees as well as a 
conservative appetite for risks. The Bank does not perform speculative business activities. 

Self-sustainability is one of the key components of the Bank's business strategy with the desire that 
business activities have a positive and self-sustainable contribution to the environment and society. Each 
bank within the group coordinates its own activities using a comprehensive environmental management 
system. The impact on the environment, both our own activities and the activities of our clients, is being 
analyzed. Within this process, we encourage clean or green investment projects, especially in energy 
efficiency and renewable energy projects. 

The Bank aims to fulfill the role of "Housebank" of our clients. As such, the goal is to be their first contact 
for banking lending, deposit and payment services. Our clients, small and medium enterprises, generally 
require financing ranging from EUR 50,000 to 3 million. Specializing in financing small and medium 
enterprises, the bank recognizes special customer requirements for banking services, offering a range of 
financing services, deposit and transaction operations. Our client group consists of innovative companies 
that show dynamic growth and development as well as a stable and formalized structure. Through our 
activities we want to contribute to the creation of new jobs, increase of innovative capacities and investment 
in environmentally friendly projects. Special attention is paid to "green" financing and local production, 
especially in agriculture. Our approach is based on the careful selection of clients, who operate stably, 
transparently and socially responsibly. We believe that our clients contribute significantly to the formal 
sector, social and economic development. At the same time, the bank has clear requirements for clients in 
terms of ethics of business practices as well as environmental responsibilities. 

In addition to serving small and medium enterprises, the bank strives to promote direct banking for 
individuals. The comprehensiveness of "online" services enables the development of long-term cooperation 
with clients. In general, the bank does not offer counter and cash transactions, and the bank's clients can 
use the services through our digital channels, which during the pandemic showed extremely useful for all 
parties. 

The Bank's risk strategy reflects a clearly defined business model, a high degree of diversification and 
careful selection and continuous training of employees. The quality and motivation of employees is one of 
the key factors in achieving business goals. The selection of employees is done with special care, offering 
the possibility of a long-term career. In order to ensure the continuity of education, the group has developed 
a program of various trainings that are held within its own training centers. In addition, a Code of Conduct 
was implemented and it defines corporate values, adherence to common values of mutual respect and 
responsible behavior in everyday activities.
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Bank owner 

ProCredit Bank is 100% owned by ProCredit Holding, which is registered as a limited partnership. The most 
significant shareholders of the Holding are: Zeitinger Invest GmbH 17.0%, KfW 13.2%, DOEN Participaties 
B.V. 12.5%, International Finance Corporation IFC 10.0%, TIAA 8.6% and the remaining part is on a free 
quotation. 

The largest single shareholder is Zeitinger Invest GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, who is also the key initiator of 
the formation of the ProCredit Group. KfW is one of the most important development banks with the aim of 
promoting economic, social and environmental life around the planet on behalf of the Federal Republic of 
Germany. Other shareholders are development-oriented institutions that have activities around the world. 
The development institutions are crucial in forming the business model of the ProCredit Group and the 
bank. 

 Organizational chart of the bank and the rules od corporate governance 

 

Part of ProCredit Group's overall mission is to set standards in the financial sector in which it operates in 
order to make a visible impact, not only in the quality of financial services it provides, but also in business 
ethics and environmental issues that are fully integrated into the business model. Corporate values play a 
key role in this regard. 

Five basic principles have been established on which the Bank's and the Group's operations are based: 

a) Transparency, 
b) Open communication, 
c) Social responsibility and tolerance, 
d) High professional standards, and 
e) Personal integrity and commitment. 

These principles are the basis of corporate culture and are actively applied in everyday business. 
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Legal and regulatory framework of corporate governance 

Implementing the corporate governance system, the Bank moves within the regulatory framework 
established by the Law on Banks of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (hereinafter: the Law), the 
Law on Companies, decisions of the Banking Agency of the Federation of BiH and Republika Srpska 
(hereinafter: the Agency), as well as the applicable regulations governing the securities market. 

At the same time, good corporate governance practice is based and upgraded through the implementation 
of experiences from the corporate governance practice of the group to which the Bank belongs. ProCredit 
Holding AG & Co. KGaA, as the holder of the Group, applies corporate governance in accordance with the 
international best banking practice and regulatory standards of Germany, taking into account the local 
legislation of the countries where the members of the ProCredit Group operate. 

The Bank has also adopted the Corporate Governance Policy, the current version of which is from 31 
December 2021. 

Shareholders and the Assembly 

The Bank has one shareholder, ProCredit Holding AG & Co.KGaA, Germany, and the powers of the 
Assembly are exercised by the shareholder. 

In 2022, the Assembly convened three sessions, two of which were extraordinary, for the purposes of 
appointing external auditors for the audit of the Bank's information systems, that is, for the audit of financial 
statements and the evaluation of the implementation of the bank's legal and regulatory obligations to 
prevent money laundering and terrorist financing, as well as for replacing of a member of the Bank's 
Supervisory Board and the appointment of a replacement. 

Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board consists of five members appointed and dismissed by the Bank's Assembly, of 
which at least two are independent in accordance with the definition of the Law on Banks and the Decision 
on the Internal Management System in the FBiH Banking Agency. Four members of the Bank's Supervisory 
Board actively know one of the languages in official use in BiH, and one of the members resides in the 
territory of BiH. 

Members of the Supervisory Board are appointed simultaneously for a period of four years with the 
possibility of re-election. The current mandate of the members expires on 31 May 2023. 

The Supervisory Board appoints the Audit Committee and directly performs the tasks of the Remuneration 
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Committee. 

The Audit Committee has three members and provides professional assistance to the Supervisory Board 
in supervising the bank's operations and the work of the Bank's Management Board, and is directly 
responsible for its work to the Supervisory Board, and the members are appointed by the Supervisory Board 
for a period of four years, with the possibility of appointment for two consecutive terms. 

Management 

The Bank's Management Board consists of the President and two members of the Management Board, 
who organize, conduct business and represent the Bank. Members of the Bank's Management Board 
represent the Bank in legal transactions in such a way that all legally binding documents are signed by at 
least two members of the Bank's Management Board, so no member of the Management Board can be 
authorized to represent the Bank individually in the entire scope of its activities. 
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The Supervisory Board appoints and dismisses the Bank's Management Board and supervises its work. 
The mandate of the management expires on  8 November 2023. During 2022, the Management Board held 
a total of 35 sessions at which it discussed topics from its area of responsibility. 

Control functions 

The Bank has control functions established by the Supervisory Board in a way that is independent, ie 
functionally separate from business processes and activities in which risk arises, ie from business 
processes and activities which are monitored, controlled and evaluated by these control functions: risk 
management function, monitoring function compliance and internal audit function. 

Banking secret 

Persons who have access to data considered banking secrecy in the performance of their duties are obliged 
to keep such data and may not use it for their personal benefit or communicate it to third parties. 

These persons are obliged to keep banking secrecy even after the termination of employment with the 
Bank, termination of their engagement with the Bank, or termination of the status on the basis of which they 
gained access to such data. 

Publishing data 

Once a year, the Bank publishes quantitative and qualitative data, which are important for informing the 
public about the financial situation and operations, and they are published and available on the Bank's 
website. 

Financial reports 

The Bank prepares annual financial statements, which faithfully and objectively reflect its financial result 
and financial position in accordance with the statutory accounting requirements applicable to banks in the 
Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina.  

The Bank publishes the audit company's report in abbreviated form, within 15 days of its receipt, on its 
website and in one or more daily newspapers available throughout BiH, as well as audited annual financial 
statements together with its annual report within six months from the end of the business year to which they 
relate. 

Detailed information about bank's corporate structure can be found in Note 1 of the financial statements.
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REPORT ON THE ECONOMIC POSITION OF THE BANK 

Course of business operations 

As a result of all the work done in 2022 and the years before, the bank achieved a positive financial result 
in prior year. Although COVID-19's effects were also felt in 2022, primarily as a result of disrupted prices 
and distribution channels, as well as negative effects brought on by the conflict in Ukraine and the resulting 
disruptions in global economic flows, the bank succeeded in achieving the anticipated profitability as well 
as a significant increase in corporate assets and reliable, regional funding sources. The entire gross loan 
portfolio increased by 7% from 2021 to 2022, which is a higher growth rate than the banking industry as a 
whole. Particularly, client deposits had positive growth and development, increasing by more than 45% or 
more than BAM 200 million. The bank had a positive financial result of BAM 7.1 million, compared to a 
result of  BAM 2.7 million  the year before. The accomplished results bolster the bank's secure position and 
create room for more business growth, particularly in the area of obtaining a higher level of self-
sustainability. The bank places a high priority on energy and ecologically friendly initiatives in its operations, 
and a sizable portion of its loan portfolio is made up of "green" or "green" loans that have been approved 
for environmentally friendly projects. 

In accordance with the mission and strategy, the Bank focuses on the provision of services to small and 
medium enterprises, which is reflected in the structure of assets, especially the loan portfolio. The largest 
part of the loan portfolio is loans granted to legal entities, which is the reason why the bank does not report 
loan and deposit development as separate business segments according to the type of client. The 
operational data presented will include loans and deposits from legal entities and individuals.  

Assets 

The Bank's total assets inceased by 23%, with the most significant increase in cash and cash equivalents 
as a result of a huge rise in customer deposits. Additionally, the number of loans disbursed increased. With 
the intention of maximizing assets, liquidity needs and liquidity status, as well as more effectively managing 
costs, the bank increased investments in treasury bills in 2022 compared to the previous period. The bank 
has its own real estate, among other assets, and no significant new investments have been made. A limited 
number of properties that the bank purchased during the collection process were downsized to technical 
value at the end of 2021. 

 

Total bank asset and net loan portfolio 
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One of the highest growth rates on the market, the portfolio of loans given to clients increased by BAM 34 
million or 7%. The total growth of loans provided to customers is marginally less than anticipated. Although 
the Bank achieved growth in accordance with the plan until the first half of the year, growth slowed down in 
the second half of the year. Price changes for the given loans, due to changes in reference interest rates 
(EURIBOR), are to blame for the year's reduced growth. Due to rising prices and interest rates, clients are 
scaling back their investment activities. In the first half of 2023, the bank anticipates a certain slowdown in 
investment operations and an increase in loan growth. In addition to these expectations, the bank 
decreased previously specified expectations and the rates of anticipated growth of loan assets in the new 
planning cycle. The upkeep of current asset levels and the placement of loans in sound projects will be the 
objectives for the following period. Due to the increased demand from rising electricity prices, the bank will 
pay particular attention to funding to energy-efficient projects. All approved loans go through a thorough 
process of credit analysis and evaluation since the Bank has a cautious appetite for risk when it comes to 
managing credit risk. 

 
Loan portfolio, by the amount of approved loan 

The basic parameter for classifying credit clients is the credit exposure in the bank. This parameter is also 
used when displaying the bank's total loan portfolio, as showed in the graph above.  

The overview below gives a breakdown of the loan portfolio by customer type. The main motive of credit 
activity is business with legal entities or business clients (Business).The most significant part of the loan 
portfolio are loans granted to legal entities with a share higher than 95%. 
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Liabilities and equity 

The bank's liabilities mainly consist of customer deposits and liabilities for loans received from financial 
institutions. Client deposits are the most important position of funding sources and by the end of 2022 they 
accounted for 80% (2021: 71%). The growth of deposits compared to last year was BAM 207 million or 
over 45%. At the same time, the share of deposits compared to other sources has improved. The growth 
of deposits was realized on current and term accounts. The deposit-to-loan ratio improved in 2022 to 119% 
(2021: 87%). 

 

Customer deposits 

 

Customer deposits by segments 

Other sources of financing, loans taken from financial institutions have decreased compared to 2021 by 
29% and the total share of these liabilities in sources decreased compared to the previous year. The Bank 
uses loans from related parties from ProCredit Holding, and short-term sources from ProCredit Bank 
Germany. Other creditors of the bank are relevant international financial institutions. During 2022 the bank 
had loans from primary financial institutions from EU (EBRD and CEB). At the end of the year the bank 
obtained subordinated debt from GGF (Green for Growth Fund) with aim to maintain the regulatory capital 
requirements and to prepare buffer for the future growth. 

At the end of 2021, the bank underwent recapitalization. An additional capital payment of BAM 12.7 million 
(6.5 million EUR) was made by the bank's owner. The BAM 8.8 million (4.5 million EUR) in subordinated 
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debt was converted into capital at the same time. The investments made are intended to improve the Bank's 
position in the market and support asset growth. Additionally, the position of subordinated debt may be 
used as contribution capital with the regulator's approval, which increases the position of the Bank's 
regulatory capital and the satisfaction of all capital requirements set forth by the regulator. 

Operational result 

Profit for 2022 amounts to  BAM 7.1 million (2021: BAM 2.7 million), resulting in an improved return on 
capital. Net interest income increased by 4.3 million BAM or 21% compared to the previous year. The 
growth of the loan portfolio is the primary generator of the income growth in the first trimester, subseded by 
increase of income and interest margin resulting from increase of variable interest rates pegged to 
EURIBOR. In October, the bank changed and  increased the part of portfolio with variable interest rates. 
The net interest margin in 2022 increased by 1.3 percentage points compared to the year before. 

Along with increasing income from fees and other banking incentives that expanded during 2022, the bank's 
increased profitability is primarily driven by the favorable development of interest income. Additionally, the 
bank's provisioning expenses for anticipated credit losses were lower. The bank recognized some 
industries in the pandemic situation where increased credit risks were possible and boosted reserves 
correspondingly. Additionally, bank worked on stress scenarios at the beginning of 2022 as a result of the 
war-related events in Ukraine, inflationary pressures, and changes in loan prices, which provided insight 
into the necessity of developing additional provisions for credit risks. The net expenses of reserves are 
BAM 600 thousand or 21% lower this year than last. 

The development of net fee and commission income decreased by 19% mostly by increase in client number 
and number of transactions. As the bank 100% transaction banking works through digital platforms, it 
helped durign the pandemic and was competetive advantage for client acquisition. The bank expects 
positive development in the coming period as well, and is the result of an increased volume of transactions 
and new clients who use the competitive advantages of foreign payments offered by the bank. 

Together, administrative and staff costs were kept at the same level as in 2021. Due to a rise in both the 
number of employees and their wages over the course of the year, there was a 17% increase in personnel 
expenses. However, the expenditures of new IT projects, marketing to raise awareness of the Bank, and 
the promotion of the digital concept represent the biggest shift in the structure. The total amount spent on 
administrative costs was also lowered by 6%. Additionally, the Bank supported numerous initiatives aimed 
at protecting the environment through both direct acts and lending to green initiatives. 

The financial position of the Bank as well as the result in 2021 show the stability of business activities, 
together with the capital increase gives a sound basis for stable growth and sustainable business model.  
The Bank complied with all obligations and regulatory requirements throughout the period. 
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REPORT ON EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS 

Macroeconomic environment and competitive situation 

Macroeconomic indicators' estimates and actual values changed quite a little in 2022. The COVID-19 
pandemic's effects from 2020 were still being felt, primarily in the form of unrecovered distribution flows and 
prices, further deprived by the war in Ukraine that would further disrupt the economic environment and put 
pressure on inflationary trends. This would be followed by the related effects of the anti-inflationary 
measures, which mainly affected the movements of reference interest rates. Bosnia and Herzegovina's 
inflationary trends of rising prices had an impact on a variety of decisions made by the government and 
business people. Incentives for the provision of benefits to lessen the consequences make up the first of 
the measures, and a boost in employee earnings—which was reflected in growing average wages as well 
as increased minimum wages and pensions—makes up the second. The end of 2022 saw inflation of 
14.8%, according to the Agency for Statistics of Bosnia and Herzegovina report. The International Monetary 
Fund (IMF/IMF) has forecast price changes/inflation for the subsequent term that should range from 5% in 
2023 to 2% in 2025. Estimates of economic activity and gross national accounts show that in BiH, in the 
third quarter, GDP of 2.6% was reported (source: Statistics Agency of BiH), and year-end expectation of 
2.4%1. The International Monetary Fund expects the global GDP to expand by 2% in 2023 and by 3% in 
2024. 

The economic activity recovery was also reflected in foreign trade increase. Total exports at the end of 
2022 increased by 26% compared to the same period last year, and imports increased by 33%. The 
coverage of imports by exports is at the level of over 63%. Investment activities also increased for the 
observed period, in December 2022, compared to December 2021, there was an increase of 1.7%.Retail 
activity increased by 14%. 

The banking industry's performance in 2022 indicated a moderate rebound. With growth rates that were 
less than the 5.0% of the year before, the deposit portfolio kept expanding. A 4.7% growth was also noted 
in credit assets, above the trend of the preceding two years. However, a slower expansion of sanctioned 
loans is anticipated due to the fluctuation of reference interest rates and ongoing growth. Legal entities 
won't be motivated to invest under rising pricing conditions, which will result in a decrease or relative 
retention of current exposures. The banks will make adjustments to the deposit pricing on the side of the 
collected deposits, changing the structure in the process. A vista savings accounts and other less expensive 
products will be more prevalent. Banks' third-quarter profitability increased mostly as a result of non-interest 
income changes and growth. Due to the increase in interest rates, interest revenue will grow in 2023's first 
half. However, due to the increase in deposit prices in the second half of the year and the years that follow, 
an increase in interest expenses is anticipated. The bank will attain stable profitability if there is no 
appreciable rise in credit risk as a result of higher rates. 

Expected development of the Bank 

The Bank greatly raised both its percentage of total assets and loans in 2022. both in comparison to the 
market and the year before. The loan portfolio experienced a sizable increase that was higher than the 
market average. We anticipate that the market position will continue to improve, the loan portfolio will 
expand, and customer deposits will serve as new sources of funding in 2023. It has already begun to some 
extent in recent years, and it is anticipated to continue in the future, that the potential for long-term, 
profitable, and sustainable expansion will be realized. The owners gave the bank a lot of support in order 
to invest new capital and assist management, which shows a long-term commitment to being present. Along 
with the anticipated expansion, maintaining and enhancing our client relationships continues to be a top 
priority, in the hopes that despite the unstable economic climate, our clientele would remain steady. 

1 https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/BIH 
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The bank projects that the loan portfolio will continue to grow over the coming year as well as over the next 
three years (2023–2027), in line with trends that would put it in the 6–8% range. The bank's current business 
strategy expects slightly weaker growth than in prior years, mostly because of the environment of rising 
interest rates. The bank's earlier projections were more based on historical trends. Additionally, given the 
bank's commitment to social and environmental business, we anticipate that with the continuation of 
operations and promotion of environmental preservation, the share of green loans in the overall portfolio 
will be at the level of 21%. The expectation is based on the increasing demand for renewable energy and 
energy efficiency. 

The bank intends to conduct initiatives to link new non-credit clients, legal companies, and people in order 
to see significant development on the deposit side. It is possible to draw in new customers who have 
realized the benefits of over-the-counter trade during the epidemic thanks to the digital business model and 
easy access to services. Based on the efforts and outcomes made in previous years, a growth of 18.6% is 
planned, which is both justifiable and attainable. 

The bank employs received credits and loans in addition to deposits, which serve as the primary source of 
funding, to manage liquidity and maturity compliance as well as to support the expansion of the credit 
portfolio. For 2023 and the years after, a gradual decline in debt exposure (loans and credits) is anticipated. 
The bank cut this kind of source by 29% at the end of 2022. A drop of about 30% is anticipated throughout 
the subsequent time frame. In order to provide capital for the anticipated growth of total and risk-weighted 
assets, the bank contracted subordinated debt in the most recent quarter. 

The bank's capital position was greatly enhanced by the recapitalization that was completed at the end of 
2021 in the amount of BAM 12.7 million with the conversion of subordinated debt totaling BAM 8.8 million , 
raising the adequacy rate to over 17.1% (2021: 14.5%). The installation of a new line of subordinated debt 
in the amount of BAM 7.9 million described above is intended to maintain a high adequacy rate and in 
accordance with the conditions set out by the regulator as a result of the SREP analysis. The bank was 
made aware of potential 1.25% extra capital requirements in the SREP assessment for 2020. 

In line with the anticipated expansion in income assets and anticipated developments in interest rates, we 
anticipate a positive trend in interest and net interest income for the year 2023. Because of the harmonized 
variable rates with EURIBOR, it is anticipated that net interest income will increase by more than 30% in 
2023. The bank will continue to act responsibly toward its customers, and at the first indication that the 
customer may be in danger, it will increase reference rates and alter the pricing and the repayment schedule 
to reflect the client's ability. 

In 2023 and the years after that, there is anticipated rise in both fee-based income and other non-interest-
bearing income. Growth is planned and adheres to the growth strategy for new clients. Additionally, a 3-6% 
increase in non-interest revenue growth is anticipated. Due to the increased use of guarantee lines, for 
which the Bank pays a charge, the assumption of growth on the side of expenses from fees and 
commissions has increased. In addition, changes in line with inflation expectations and the introduction of 
the Bank's new digital services are anticipated on the spending side, where growth of 18% is projected for 
2023 and is expected to be sustained at the same level in the following term while respecting inflation 
expectations. Employee costs are predicted to rise by an average of 3% due to routine compensation 
adjustments, a modest growth in the workforce, and other factors. The Bank plans separately the normal 
expenses for the ongoing training it provides, both internally in its own training centers and outside for 
specialized trainings. 

The assumptions for a favorable development of the cost/income ratio are derived from the aforementioned 
expectations. 
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Due to potential effects on the rise in credit risks brought on by higher interest rates on loans, the projection 
of the movement of credit provisions for predicted credit losses is planned at a level similar to that in 2022. 
Although the bank determined that there was no danger to clients in the early impact evaluations, the rising 
reference interest rate and market movements may have an influence on rising debt prices, which may in 
turn contribute to an increase in the risk of client exposure. 

The bank analyzes the critical success factors for the business during planning and anticipated results to 
assess the suitability of plans and required actions for achieving plan sizes. Profitability, return on capital, 
and asset indicators are the fundamental metrics for tracking the achievement of the desired results. Trends 
in net interest income, margins, typical rates of interest, and typical costs by kind of spending. Cost to 
Income Ratio as a measure of the effectiveness and model of a firm. Additionally, the development of 
operational indicators, the increase of total assets, the expansion of the loan portfolio, and the expansion 
of deposits are all crucial indications. If the bank considerably deviates from the anticipated values, 
monitoring of planned goals and indicators is utilized to align business choices and operations. 

Overview of financial and operational ratios Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan 
2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

Income Statement (BAM .000s) 

Net interest income 27,997 29,308 30,993 32,980 35,304 

Operating income 35,006 37,070 39,582 41,971 44,560 

Personnel expenses -6,967 -7,180 -7,394 -7,610 -7,828

Other expenses including depreciation -14,628 -16,283 -16,818 -17,082 -17,341

Operating expenses -21,595 -23,463 -24,212 -24,692 -25,169

Profit (Loss) before taxes 10,974 11,427 13,380 15,577 17,577 

Taxes -1,152 -1,200 -1,405 -1,636 -1,846

Net profit (loss) 9,821 10,227 11,975 13,942 15,732 

Assets Structure 

Liquid assets / Customers deposits 43% 42% 42% 42% 43% 

Customers deposits / Loans to clients (gross) 133% 138% 142% 145% 147% 

Earnings 

ROAA 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%

ROAE 12% 12% 12% 12% 12%

Financial Margins 

Interest income / Average total assets 3.58% 3.69% 3.72% 3.74% 3.76% 

Average cost of funds 0.61% 0.87% 0.99% 1.09% 1.17% 

Net interest income / Average total assets 3.03% 2.90% 2.82% 2.76% 2.71% 

Net interest income / Average loans to clients 4.86% 4.76% 4.66% 4.58% 4.53% 

Efficiency ratio 

Cost to Income ratio (CiR), before provisions 61.7% 63.3% 61.2% 58.8% 56.5% 

Growth rates 

Gross loan portfolio 6.3% 7.6% 8.2% 8.3% 8.2%

Customers’ deposits 18.6% 12.0% 11.1% 10.3% 9.7% 
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Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo (“the Bank”), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Bank as at 31 December 2022 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the statutory accounting requirements applicable to banks in the Federation of Bosnia and 
Herzegovina. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Impairment of loans and receivables from customers 
As at 31 December 2022, gross loans and receivables: BAM 558 million, related impairment allowance: BAM 16 million 
and, for the year then ended, impairment loss recognised in the profit or loss: BAM 2.2 million (31 December 2021: gross 
loans and receivables: BAM 524  million, related impairment allowance: BAM 19 million and, for the year then ended, 
impairment loss recognised in the profit or loss: BAM 2.8 million). 

Refer to Note 3 Significant accounting policies, Note 4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty, Note 5.1 Credit risk and Note 20 Loans and receivables from customers.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the matter
Impairment allowances represent Management Board’s 
best estimate of the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) 
within loans and receivables from customers (collectively, 
“loans”, “exposures”) at the reporting date. We focused 
on this area as the measurement of impairment 
allowances requires the Management Board to make 
complex and subjective judgements and assumptions. 

The Bank calculates allowances for credit losses in 
accordance with the requirements of the Federal Banking 
Agency of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina 
(“FBA”), which combine the requirements of IFRS 9 
“Financial Instruments” with the prescribed minimum 
requirements for provisioning. 

The impairment allowances for performing exposures 
(Stage 1 and Stage 2 in the framework’s hierarchy) and 
non-performing (Stage 3) exposures not exceeding BAM 
100 thousand, individually, are determined by modelling 
techniques relying on key parameters such as the 
probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and 
exposure at default (EAD), taking into account historical 
experience, identification of exposures with a significant 
deterioration in credit quality and forward-looking 
information (together “collective impairment 
allowance”). 

Our audit procedures in this area, performed, where applicable, with the 
assistance of our own financial risk management and information 
technology (IT) audit specialists included, among others: 

• Inspecting the Bank’s ECL methods and models, and assessing their
compliance with the relevant requirements of the regulatory and 
financial reporting framework. As part of the above, we identified 
the relevant models, assumptions and sources of data, and assessed 
whether such models, assumptions, data and their application are 
appropriate in the context of the said requirements. We also
challenged the Management Board on whether the level of the
methodology’s sophistication is appropriate based on an 
assessment of the entity-level factors;

• Making relevant inquiries of the Bank’s risk management and IT
personnel in order to obtain an understanding of the provisioning
process, IT applications used therein, key data sources and 
assumptions used in the ECL model.  As part of the procedure, we 
also tested the Bank’s IT control environment for data security and 
access;

• Testing the design and implementation of selected controls over the
loan approval, recording and monitoring, including those relating to
the identification of significant increase in credit risk, loss events 
and default, appropriateness of the classification of exposures into
performing and non-performing and their segmentation into
homogenous groups, calculation of days past due and collateral
valuations.
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Key Audit Matters (continued) 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the matter (continued) 
Expected credit losses for individually significant Stage 3 
(non-performing) exposures (above BAM 100 thousand) are 
determined on an individual basis by means of a discounted 
cash flows analysis. The process involves subjectivity and 
reliance on a number of significant assumptions, including 
those in respect of the probable sale proceeds from the 
related collateral and the minimum period for collateral 
disposal. 

Incorporated into both the collective and individual 
assessment are also specific rules of the FBA regarding 
various minimum provisioning rates. 

While the credit environment in 2022 reflected the 
recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, it also reflected 
unfavorable changes in the economic outlook, disruptions 
to energy and other commodity markets and slowing 
economic growth as well as elevated inflationary pressures 
and increase in interest rates. 

In the wake of the above factors, including the significantly 
higher estimation uncertainty stemming from the current 
volatile economic outlook, we considered impairment of 
loans and receivables to be associated with a significant risk 
of material misstatement in the financial statements, which 
required our increased attention in the audit. Accordingly, 
we considered this area to be our key audit matter. 

• For loss allowances calculated on a collective basis:
— Evaluating the overall ECL modelling approach, including

challenging the key risk parameters (PD, LGD and EAD) used 
by the Bank, by reference to historical realized losses on 
defaults, FBA-prescribed levels (where applicable) and also 
considering any required adjustments to reflect expected 
changes in circumstances; 

— Obtaining the relevant forward-looking information and 
macroeconomic projections used in the Bank’s ECL 
assessment.  Independently assessing the information by 
means of corroborating inquiries of the Management Board 
and inspecting publicly available information; 

• For impairment allowances calculated individually, for a risk-based
sample of loans:
— Taking into account debtor’s business, market conditions and 

payment history, critically assessing, by reference to the 
underlying documentation (loan files) and through discussion 
with the loan officers and credit risk management personnel, 
the existence of any triggers for classification to Stage 2 or 
Stage 3; 

• For loan exposures in totality:

— Assessing the adequacy of expected credit losses against the
various minimum provisioning requirements prescribed by 
the FBA; 

— Critically assessing the overall reasonableness of the 
impairment allowances, including the loan provision coverage 
development, and share of the gross performing and non-
performing exposures in total gross exposure.  

— Examining whether the Bank’s loan impairment and credit 
risk-related disclosures in the financial statements 
appropriately include and describe the relevant quantitative 
and qualitative information required by the applicable 
financial reporting framework. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management Report 
included in the Annual Report of the Bank, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

With respect to the Management Report, we also performed procedures required by the Law on Accounting and 
Auditing in Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (“Law on Accounting and Auditing”). Those procedures include 
considering whether the Management Report has been consistent with financial statements for the same financial 
year.   

Based solely on the work required to be undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and 
procedures above, in our opinion the information given in the Management Report for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared, is consistent, in all material respects, with the financial statements. 

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we are also required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the Management 
Report. We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the statutory accounting requirements applicable to banks in the Federation of Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Vedran Vukotić. 

KPMG B-H  d.o.o. za reviziju    27  April 2023 

Registered Auditors 
Zmaja od Bosne 7-7a 

71000 Sarajevo 
Bosna i Hercegovina 
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 Notes 2022  

 
2021 

     
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method 7 25,075  20,725 
Other interest income  122  135 
Interest expense  8 (4,231)     (4,397) 

Net interest income  20,966  16,463 

      
Fee and commission income 9 8,289  7,068 
Fee and commission expense 10 (3,688)  (2,785) 

Net fee and commission income  4,601  4,283 
      

Net income from foreign currency trading  11 2,230  1,769 
Other operating income 12 633  1,037 

      
Net operating income  28,430  23,552 

     
Administrative expenses 13 (9,536)  (9,180) 
Personnel expenses 14 (5,874)  (5,181) 
Depreciation and amortisation 21, 22, 23 (1,504)   (1,531) 
Other operating expenses 15 (1,446)  (1,727) 

Operating expenses  (18,360)  (17,619) 

      
Profit before impairment losses and income tax  10,070  5,933 

     
Impairment losses, net 16 (2,203)  (2,882) 

     
PROFIT BEFORE TAX  7,867  3,051 

     
Income tax expense 17 (780)  (374) 

     
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  7,087  2,677 

     

Earnings per share (BAM) 32 0.86  0.36 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

In ‘000 BAM  2022 

 

2021 
Net profit  7,088  2,677 
     
Other comprehensive income     
     
Items that are or might be  reclassified to profit or loss     

Net gains and losses from changes in fair value of debt 
securities at fair value through other comprehensive income     

           Change in fair value, net  -  - 

           Net amount transferred to the statement of profit or loss  -  - 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss     
Net gains and losses from changes in fair value of equity 

securities at fair value through other comprehensive income   
 

 

           Change in fair value, net  10 
 

6 

Total other comprehensive income fo the year  10 

 

6 

     
Total comprehensive income for the year  7,098  2,683 



Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022 
(all amounts are expressed in thousands of BAM, unless otherwise stated) 

 

ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo                                                                                                                 _________    25 
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 Notes 
31 December 

2022  
31 December 

2021 

ASSETS     

Cash in hand 18 9,380  8,357 

Funds held at the Central Bank of BiH 18 200,819  155,908 

Loans and receivables to banks 18 57,123  20,900 

Loans and receivables to customers, net 20 541,481  504,322 

Investment securities     

       at fair value through other comprehensive income 19 49,255  5,082 

Current tax assets  -  375 

Investment property 21 1,300  2,110 

Property and equipment 22 10,880  10,787 

Intangible assets 23 344  445 

Other assets and receivables 24 1,067  1,190 

TOTAL ASSETS  871,649  709,476 

   
 

 

LIABILITIES   
 

 

Liabilities to banks  25 13,793  29,217 

Liabilities to financial institutions 26 106,293  151,681 

Liabilities to customers 27 665,517  457,656 

Subordinated debt 28 7,918  - 

Provisions  29 1,379  1,512 

Current tax liability  351  148 

Other liabilities  30 2,277  2,240 

     

TOTAL LIABILITIES  797,528  642,454 

     

EQUITY AND RESERVES     

Share capital 31 91,663  91,663 

Share premium  293  293 

Statutory reserves  228  228 

Accumulated losses   (18,100)  (25,188) 

Fair value reserves  37  27 

TOTAL EQUITY AND RESERVES  74,121  67,023 

     

TOTAL LIABILITIES, EQUITY AND RESERVES  871,649  709,476 
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Issued share 

capital 
Share 

premium 
Fair value 

reserves  
Accumulated 

losses 
Fair value reserve 

Total 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 71,126 293 228 (27,865) 21 43,803 

Net profit for the year - - - 2,677 - 2,677 

Other comprehensive income       

       
Net gains and losses from changes in fair value 
of equity securities at fair value through OCI - - - - 6 6 

       

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - 2,677 6 2,683 

Transactions with the Bank 's shareholders       

Capital increase (Note 31) 20,537 - - - - 20,537 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 91,663 293 228 (25,188) 27 67,023 

       

Balance as at 1 January 2022 91,663 293 228 (25,188) 27 67,023 

       

Net profit for the year - - - 7,088 - 7,088 

Other comprehensive income       

       
Net gains and losses from change in fair value 

of equity securities at fair value through OCI - - - - 10 10 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 7,088 10 7,098 

Balance as at 31 December 2022 91,663 293 228 (18,100) 37 74,121 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes 

 
31 December 

2022  

 
31 December 

2021 
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Net profit/(loss) before taxr  7,868  3,051 
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation and amortisation  1,504  1,531 
Impairment losses, net  2,203  2,882 
Net loss from writte off of property and equipment  -  83 
Net change in provisions for liabilities and charges  83  305 
Net (gain)/loss from sale of repossessed assets  (110)  (341) 
Impairement allowance for repossessed assets   39  591 
Net interest income  (20,966)  (16,463) 
  (9,379)  (8,361) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     
Net change in obligatory reserves with CBBH  (14,291)  (6,710) 
Net change in deposits held in other banks  (2,444)  - 
Net change in loans and receivables to customers, before impairment  (39,287)  (55,875) 
Net change in other assests and receivables, before impairment  (124)  1,253 
Net change in liabilities to banks  (15,424)  (11,538) 
Net change in liabilities to customers  207,861  127,144 
Payments of provisions for liabilities and charges  (216)  (315) 
Net change in other liabilities  36  384 
     
Paid income tax  (332)  (313) 
Received interest  24,892  18,866 
Paid interest  (3,384)  (4,736) 
     
NET CASH FLOW USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES  147,908  59,799 
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Purchase of securities at amortized cost  -  - 
Maturity of securities at amortized cost  5,018  5,001 
Purchase of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income  (49,175)  (5,013) 
Purchase of property and equipment  (456)  (237) 
Purchase of intangible assets  -  - 

     

NET CASH FLOW USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (44,613)  (249) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 

   
Proceeds from liabilities to banks and other financial institutions  25,189  24,448 
Repayments of liabilities to banks and other financial institutions  (62,659)  (61,212) 
Lease liabilities paid  (401)  (367) 
Increase in share capital  -  20,537 

NET CASH FLOW USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 

(37,871)  (16,594) 

NET (DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  65,424  42,956 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 18 125,158  82,202 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 18 190,582  125,158 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statement. 
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1.      REPORTING ENTITY  

ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo (the “Bank”) is incorporated as a joint stock company domiciled in Bosnia and 
Herzegovina.  

The Bank is part of a global network of financial institutions, managed and fully owned by ProCredit Holding AG 
& Co. KGaA, who is also a 100% owner. 

The Bank is incorporated to perform all banking activities in accordance with the Law on banks in the Federation 
of Bosnia and Herzegovina and the main activities include commercial lending, receiving of deposits, foreign 
exchange deals, and payment operation services in the country and abroad and retail banking services. The Bank 
is a development-oriented commercial bank which offers customer services to small and medium enterprises and 
to private individuals. 
The Bank’s registered address is in Sarajevo, Franca Lehara bb, Bosnia and Herzegovina. As at 31 December 2022 
the Bank had 170 employees (31 December 2021: 139 employees). 

The Bank operated with branches, Contact Centre and 24/7 (self-service) Zones, in order to provide customers 
with comprehensive and more accessible services. 

 
Branch offices   Service Points 
Sarajevo, Franca Lehara bb   Sarajevo, Ilidža, Ibrahima Ljubovića 20 
Mostar, Biskupa Čule bb  Bijeljina, Majevička 102 
Banja Luka, Prvog krajiškog korpusa 54  Tuzla, Aleje Alije Izetbegovića 2 

The Supervisory Board, Management Board and Audit Committee 

During 2022 and on the date of this report, the members of the Supervisory Board were: 

Supervisory Board 

Gian Marco Felice Chairman 
Eriola Biboli Member from 04 November 2022 
Vladimir Rajić Member to 04 November 2022 
Wolfgang Bertelsmeier Member 
Aida Soko Member 
Emilija Spirovska Member 

During 2022 and on the date of this report, the members of the Audit Committee were: 

Audit Committee 
Emanuela Caushi Azemi Chairman 
Stevče Kuzmanovski Member 
Maja Mihajlova Member 
  

During 2022 and on the date of this report, the members of Management Boand were: 

Management Board 
Amir Salkanović Chairman 
Amina Durmo - Trlin Member 
Srđan Ožegović Member 
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2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION  

2.1.  Statement of compliance  

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the legal accounting regulations applicable to 
banks in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (“FBiH”), which are based on the FBiH Law on Accounting 
and Auditing, the FBiH Banking Law and bylaws of the Banking Agency of the Federation of Bosnia and 
Herzegovina ("Agency" or "FBA") adopted on the basis of the mentioned laws. 

 The FBiH Law on Accounting and Auditing prescribes the preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 The Law on Banks of the FBiH prescribes the preparation of annual financial statements in accordance 
with the aforementioned Law on Accounting and Auditing of the FBiH, this law, and bylaws adopted on 
the basis of both laws. 

 The Agency adopted the Decision on Credit Risk Management and Determination of Expected Credit 
Losses (the “Decision”), applicable from 1 January 2020 and which resulted in certain differences 
resulting from the calculation of impairment for credit losses due to the application of minimum rates 
prescribed by the Decision, which are not required by IFRS 9: “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”). The 
Decision also has an impact on the valuation of non-financial assets arising from credit operations 
(acquired tangible assets whose valuation is within the scope of other relevant IFRS). 

In accordance with the provisions of the Decision as at 31 December 2022 the Bank calculated an impairment for 
credit losses that is higher by BAM 4,126 thousand (2021: BAM 4,668 thousand) than the amount obtained by 
calculating the result of the Bank's internal model for calculating expected credit losses, compliant with the 
requirements of IFRS 9, with details as follows: 

 Application of Article 23 of the Decision prescribing the application of minimum impairment rates for 
all exposures allocated to stage 1 - calculated difference in the amount of BAM 876 thousand (2021: 
BAM 1,219 thousand), 

 Application of Article 24 of the Decision prescribing the application of minimum impairment rates for 
all credit exposures in stage 2 - calculated difference in the amount of BAM 926 thousand (2021: BAM 
591 thousand), 

 Application of minimum impairment rates prescribed in Article 25 of the Decision for exposures in stage 
3 (non-performing assets) - calculated difference in the amount of BAM 2,316 thousand (2021: BAM 
2,846 thousand), of which the amount of BAM 490 thousand (2021: BAM 1,087 thousand) relates to 
exposures not secured by acceptable collateral, and the amount of BAM 1,826 thousand (2021: BAM 
1,759 thousand) to exposures secured by acceptable collateral, 

 application of the minimum impairment rates prescribed in Article 26 of the Decision for trade 
receivables, receivables based on factoring and financial leasing and other receivables - the difference in 
the amount of BAM 8 thousand (2021: BAM 12 thousand). 
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2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

2.1.  Statement of compliance (continued) 

The table below presents the effects of the previously described difference between the legal accounting 
regulations applicable to banks in the FBiH and the requirements for recognition and measurement under 
International Financial Reporting Standards: 

  31 December 2022 31 December 2021 

Assets  (4,034) (4,449) 

Liabilities  92 219 

Equity  (4,126) (4,668) 

Note: positive amounts represent increases and negative ones represent decreases. 

These financial statements were authorizes by the Management Board on the Management Board meeting held on  
26 April 2023 for submission to the Supervisory Board. 

2.2. Basis for measurement  

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical or amortised cost basis, except for financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value. 

2.3. Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Bosnian Marks (“BAM”), which is the Bank’s functional and 
presentation currency, rounded to the nearest thousand. Bosnian Mark is pegged to Euro (1 EUR = 1.95583 BAM). 

2.4. Use of estimates and judgements  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. 
Although these judgements and estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and 
conditions, actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Information on areas with significant uncertainty in the estimates and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these financial statements are disclosed 
in Note 4. 

2.5  Going concern 

Based on the above, these financial statements have been prepared under a going concern assumption, which means 
that the Bank will be able to realize its receivables and settle liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The 
Management concluded that the range of possible outcomes considered at arriving at this judgment does not give 
rise to material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.   
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

The Bank has consistently applied the accounting policies further described below to all periods disclosed in these 
financial statements. 

3.1 Foreign currency transactions  

Transactions in currencies other than Bosnian Marks (“BAM”) are initially recorded at the exchange rates 
prevailing on the dates of transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at rates prevailing on the 
reporting date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
prevailing rates on the date when fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Profits and losses arising on translation are included in 
the income statement for the period. 

The Bank values its assets and liabilities at the middle rate of the Central Bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina valid 

at the reporting date. The principal rates of exchange set forth by the Central Bank and used in the preparation of 

the Bank’s statement of financial position at the reporting dates were as follows: 
 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2022 
USD 1.72563 1.83371 
EUR 1.95583 1.95583 

 
3.2. Interest income and expense 

Effective interest rate 

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method. The “effective 
interest rate” is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life 
of the financial instrument to: 

 - gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 

- the amortized costs of the financial liability. 

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, 
but not expected credit loss (“ECL”). For purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including ECL. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all paid or received transaction costs, fees and points, which 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include all incremental costs incurred directly 
in connection with the issuance or acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities.  
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.2. Interest income and expense (continued) 

Amortised cost and gross carrying value 

The amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability is the amount at which the financial assets or financial 
liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity 
amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance (or impairment).  

"Gross carrying amount of financial assets" is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any 
expected credit loss allowance. 

Calculation of interest income and expense 

Effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial 
asset or liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross 
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. The 
effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to 
reflect the movements in market rates of interest. 

However, for financial assets that have been credit-impaired subsequently to initial recognition, interest income is 
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of financial assets. If the asset is no longer 
credit-impaired, the calculation of interest income returns to the gross basis. 

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the 
credit-adjusted effective interest rate on the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income does 
not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves. 

Presentation 

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method in the statement of profit or loss includes: 

- interest on financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost 

- interest on debt securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Other income includes default and penalty interest. 

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss includes interest expense on financial liabilities 
measured at amortized cost, and negative interest on financial assets measured at amortized cost. 
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3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.3. Fee and commission income and expenses  

Fee and commission income and expenses that are integral part of the effective interest rate on a financial asset or 
liability are included in the effective interest rate, and are recognised in interest income and expense.  

Fee and commission income and expenses, reported as such, comprise mainly fees related to credit card 
transactions, the issuance of guarantees and letters of credit, domestic and foreign payment transactions and other 
services and are recognised in the profit and loss statement upon performance of the relevant service. 

Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in a 
contract with a customer. The Bank recognizes revenue when it transfers controls over a service to a customer. 

The table below shows the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligation, including significant 
payment terms and related revenue recognition policies. 

Type of service  
 

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance 
obligations, including significant payment terms  
 

Revenue recognition 
under IFRS 15  

Private and 
business clients 
banking service  
 

The Bank provides banking services to private and 
business customers, including account management, 
provision of overdraft facilities, foreign currency 
transactions, credit card and servicing fees.  
Fees for ongoing account management are charged to the 
customer’s account on a monthly basis. The Bank sets the 
rates separately for private and business banking 
customers on an annual basis.  
Transaction-based fees for interchange, foreign currency 
transactions and overdrafts are charged to the customer’s 
account when the transaction takes place.  
Servicing fees are charged on a monthly basis and are 

based on fixed rates reviewed annually by the Bank.  

Revenue from account 
service and servicing fees is 
recognised over time as the 
services are provided.  

Revenue related to 
transactions is recognised at 
the point in time when the 
transaction takes place.  

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Bank’s financial statements may 
be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Bank first 
applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 
15 to the residual.  

3.4. Net income from foreign currency trading  

Gains less losses from foreign exchange trading include unrealized and realized gains and losses from foreign 
exchange spot transactions. 
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3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.5. Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contact is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains a 
lease, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Bank 
uses the definiton of a lease in accordance with IFRS 16 „Leases“.  

This policy is applied to the contracts entered into (or modified) on or after 1 January 2019. 

i) As a lessee 

The Bank recognizes right-of-use asset and a lease liabiliy from the lease commencement date. The right-of-use 
asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove any improvements made to business premises. The lessee incurs a liability for these costs 
at commencement date of the lease or as a result of the use of the relevant property over a specified period. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to 
the end of the lease term, or over the period for which the lease is expected to be active. In addition, right-of-use 
asset is periodicaly reduced by impairment losses, if any and adjusted for any remeasruement of lease liability.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate of 
1.13-1.61% for renting other equipment and 0.89%-3.65% for business premises as the discount rate. The Bank 
determines the incremental borrowing rate as an interest rate paid to borrow funds of similar value as the right of 
use, in a similar economic environment, under similar terms and conditions.  

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

— fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;  

— variable payments that depend on a particular index or rate and that are initially measured against that index 
or rate on the first day of the lease; 

— amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and  

— the exercise price under a purchase option that the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in 
an optional renewal period if the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for 
early termination of a lease unless the Bank is reasonably certain not to terminate early  

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. It is remeasured when 
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the 
Bank’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Bank changes its 
assessment of whether it will exercise  purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance 
fixed lease payment. 
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3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.5. Leases (continued) 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, the carrying amount of the asset is properly adjusted for use or 
the difference is recorded in the income statement if the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to zero. 

The Bank presents right-of-use assets in ‘Property and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘Other liabilities’ in the 

statement of financial position. 

Short-term leases and leases of law value 

The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to leases of low-value assets and 
short-term leases. The Bank recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.  

ii) As a lessor  

The Bank recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straightline basis over the 
lease term. 

3.6.  Income tax 

Tax expense, on income tax base, is the sum of current tax and deferred taxes. 

Current income tax 

Net income differs from taxable income of the period reported in income statement and statement of 

comprehensive income, as it includes items of income and expense that are taxable or non-taxable in other years, 

as well as items that are never taxable or are deductible. The Bank's current tax liabilities are calculated by applying 

tax rates that are in effect or in the process of being adopted at the reporting date.  

Deferred income tax 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets 

and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit, 

and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 

all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities  

Recognition and initial measurement 

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, deposits, debt securities and subordinated liabilities on the date 
on which they are originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales of 
financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.  

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus any transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to its acquisition or issue, except for financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. 

3.7.1  Financial assets 

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement 

The Bank classifies its financial assets based on their underlying business model (ie. the purpose of managing 
financial assets) and the contractual cash flows characteristic ("Solely Payments of Principle and Interest”, further 
“SPPI test” or “SPPI”) in the following measurement categories:  

 Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL) 

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below. 

Business model assessment 

Differentiation is made between the following business models: 

 “hold to collect”: The financial assets are held with the aim of collecting the contractual cash flows .  

 “hold to collect and sell”: The financial assets are held with the aim of both collecting the contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial assets, and  

 “other”: This business model is used for financial assets that are neither allocated to the ‘hold to collect’ 
business model nor to the ‘hold to collect and sell’ business model.  

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which the asset is held at the portfolio level 
(ie. on the basis of a group of financial assets) because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 
information is provided to the management. The following criteria, among others are taken into account: 

 The business and risk strategy of the Bank.  

 The way in which the development of the business model is evaluated and reported to the Management 
and Supervisory Board of the Bank, and  

 If there were sales in previous period, the frequency, volume, timing and reasons for those sales as well 
as expectations regarding future sales activities.   

As a result, the balance sheet items allocated to the ‘hold to collect’ business model are: “Central bank balance”, 
“Current accounts with other banks”, “Loans and advances to customers” and “Other assets”. “Investment 
securities” are allocated to the “hold to collect” or to the “hold to collect and sell” business model.  
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

3.7.1  Financial assets (continued) 

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) 

Test of features of contractual cash flows from the point of view of solely payment of principal and interest is one 
of the criteria for the classification of financial assets in an individual category of measurement. SPPI test is 
implemented for the purpose of establishing whether the interest rate on unsettled principle reflects the fee for time 
value of money, credit risk and other basic risks of borrowing, lending costs and profit margin. 

SPPI test is performed: 

 for each financial asset, allocated to a business model whose purpose is to hold financial assets for the 
payment of contractual cash flows and a business model for the purpose of collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial asset on the date of its initial recognition, 

 for each financial asset in cases where the original asset has been significantly modified and therefore re-
recognised as new assets, 

 when introducing new models and/or loan programs to determine in advance the eligibility of the 
considered loan term and conditions in relation to the need to subsequently monitor the value of any 
financial assets that would arise from them. 

Equity instruments have contractual cash flows that do not meet the SPPI criterion. The Bank designates its equity 
instuments at fair value through other comprehensive income.  

 Financial assets at amortised cost 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest (“SPPI”), and that are not designated at fair value through profit and loss, are measured at 
amortized cost.   

After initial recognition, the carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss (ECL) 
allowance recognised and measured as described in Note 5.1.1.  

Interest income is calculated using the effective interest rate and it is included in the line „Interest income 
calculated using the effective interest rate method“.  

Financial assets at amortised cost at the balance sheet date include: cash and cash equivalents, obligatory reserves 
at the Central Bank of BiH, loans and receivables to customers, and other assets.  

 Financial assets through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at fair value through 
profit and loss, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.  

Measurements in fair value of a financial asset measured through other comprehensive income are recognised 
through other comprehensive income except for recognition of gains or losses on impairment, interest income and 
foreign exchange differences that are recognised in profit or loss, except in case of equity investments where 
unrealised gains/losses are never reclassified to profit or loss. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

3.7.1.  Financial assets (continued) 

When the financial asset through other comprehensive income is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised through other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to income statement, except 
for equity investments for which gains and losses are not recycled to profit or loss statement but directly transferred 
to retained earnings. Interest income is calculated using the effective interest rate method.  

Investment securities include debt and equity investments that are classified as financial assets through other 
comprehensive income at the balance sheet date.  

 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

Financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss unless subsequently measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Gains and losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the income statement.  

In addition, the Bank has the option to designate, on initial recognition, financial assets that otherwise meet the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI at fair value through profit and loss, if doing so 
significantly reduces the accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.  

At the balance sheet date, the Bank did not hold any financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.  

 (ii) Derecognition of financial assets 

The Bank derecognizes financial assets (in whole or in part) when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows 
from the financial instrument expire or when it loses control over contractual rights over that financial asset. This 
occurs when the Bank transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another business entity or 
when rights have been realized, transferred or expired. 

When the financial assets is derecognised, the difference between the carrying amount (or the carrying amount 
allocated to the portion of the assets that is derecognised) and the amount received (including any new assets less 
any new liabilities) and any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized through comprehensive income is 
recognised in the income statement. 

Any cumulative gain or loss recognised through other comprehensive income in respect of equity investment 
securities designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income is not recognised in profit or loss on 
derecognition of such securities, but are directly recognised in retained earnings. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

3.7.1.  Financial assets (continued) 

(iii) Modification of financial assets  

Modification of financial assets is a process where the terms of the original contract are modified as a result of: 

1) caused by current borrowers' needs (for example a reduction in the effective interest rate, prolongation 
of contract period, collateral  substitution) and not caused by financial difficulties of the borrower,  

2) caused by the current financial difficulties of the borrower or the difficulties that will arise soon, or by 
deteriorating the borrowers creditworthiness. 

Modification of financial assets occurs when changes to some or all of the contract's provisions have been made. 

In the case of a financial asset that represents a debt instrument (securities and loans and receivables), the Bank 
determines whether the modification is significant or whether the difference between the present value of the 
remaining modified cash flows discounted using the original effective interest rate and the current value of the 
modified cash flows discounted using the original effective interest rate is more than 10%. 

If the modification is significant, the Bank ceases to recognize the original financial asset and begins to recognize 
new financial assets at fair value plus transaction costs and recalculates the new effective interest rate for the asset. 
The modification date is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purpose of calculating 
the impairment, including the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. 

However, the Bank also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at 
initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the modification was driven by the debtor being unable to 
meet the originally agreed payments. The differences in the carrying amount are also recognized in profit or loss 
as a gain or loss on derecognition. 

If the modification of the financial asset is not significant and the modification did not result in derecognition of 
the financial asset, then the Bank recalculates the gross carrying amount of the asset based on the revised cash 
flows of the financial asset and recognizes the modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying 
amount is recalculated by discounting modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or using an 
effective interest rate adjusted for credit risk in the case of POCI assets). If the modification is not significant, any 
resulting modification gain or loss is recorded together with the impairment losses.  

(iv) Impairment 

IFRS 9 outlines a "three-stage" model for impairment of financial assets based on changes in credit quality since 
initial recognition of financial assets. 

Impairment of financial assets is recognized on the basis of, starting from 01 January 2020 based on, the expected 
credit loss model (ECL) for assets subsequently measured at amortized cost and assets subsequently measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income (other than equity instruments). As of January 1, 2020, the Bank 
applies a new Decision on Credit Risk Management and Determination of Expected Credit Losses according to 
which the Bank recognizes expected credit losses either at the minimum rates, as required by the Decision, or 
amounts calculated according to the internal ECL model of the Banks depending on what is higher.  
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

3.7.1. Financial liabilities (continued) 

(iv) Impairment (continued) 

Calculation and measurement of ECLs, based on the Bank’s internal model, is an area of significant judgement, 
and implies methodology, models and data inputs. The following components of ECL calculation have the major 
impact on credit loss allowance for ECLs: default definition, significant increase in credit risk, PD (probability of 
default), LGD (loss given default) and EAD (exposure at default). The Bank regularly reviews and validates 
models and inputs to the models to reduce any differences between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit 
loss experience. 

See Note 5.1.1. which explains more details regarding internal impairment model. 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2020 – Decision on credit risk management and determination of expected 
credit losses. 

As disclosed in Notes 2.1, as of 1 January 2020, the Bank measures expected credit losses in accordance with the 
requirements of the Decision on Credit Risk Management and Determination of Expected Credit Losses. The 
requirements of the new Decision regarding impairment are based on the model of expected credit losses of IFRS 
9, with certain specifics (for example, the prescribed minimum rates of expected credit losses for stages), as 
described below. 

1 Stage 1:  

The Bank shall determine and recognize expected credit losses for exposures allocated to stage 1 at least in the 
following amounts: 

a) for low risk exposures - 0.1% of exposure, 
b) for exposures to central governments and central banks outside Bosnia and Herzegovina for which 

there is a credit assessment by a recognized external credit rating institution which is assigned to 
credit quality level 3 and 4 in accordance with Article 69 of the Decision on calculation of bank's 
capital - 0.1 % of exposure, 

c) for exposures to banks and other entities of the financial sector for which there is a credit assessment 
by a recognized external credit rating institution which is assigned to credit quality level 1, 2 or 3 in 
accordance with Article 69 of the Decision on calculation of bank's capital - 0.1 % of exposure, 

d) for other exposures - 0.5% of exposures. 

If the Bank, in accordance with its internal methodology, determines the amount of expected credit losses higher 
than those arising from the above provisions of the Decision, the Bank shall apply the higher amount. 

2 Stage 2: 

For exposures allocated to stage 2, the Bank determines and recognizes the expected credit losses in the amount 
higher of the following:  

a) 5% of exposure, 
b) the amount determined in accordance with the Bank's internal methodology. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

3.7.1. Financial liabilities (continued) 

(iv) Impairment (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2020 – Decision on credit risk management and determination of expected 
credit losses (continued) 

3 Stage 3: 

The minimum rates of expected credit losses allocated to stage 3 depend on whether the exposure is secured by 
eligible collateral or not, and accordingly, the minimum rates are as follows: 

a) exposures secured by eligible collateral: 

Days past due Minimum expected credit loss 

Up to 180 days  15% 

from 181 to 270 days 25% 
from 271 to 365 days 40% 
from 366 to 730 days 60% 
from 731 to 1460 days 80% 
over 1460 days 100% 

 

a) exposures secured by eligible collateral: 

Days past due Minimum expected credit loss 

Up to 180 days 15% 
from 181 to 270 days 45% 
from 271 to 365 days 75% 
from 366 to 456 days 85% 
over 456 days 100% 

 
Exceptionally, if the Bank has taken appropriate legal action and can document the certainty of collection from 
eligible collateral in the next three years, the increase in the level of expected credit losses is not required to exceed 
80% of the exposure. In doing so, the estimate of future cash flows from eligible collateral reduced to present value 
must be greater than 20% of that receivable. In the event that the Bank does not collect receivables in the specified 
period of three years, it is obliged to record the expected credit losses in the amount of 100% of the exposure. 

In the case of restructured exposures, the Bank will maintain the expected credit losses at the level of coverage 
formed on the date of approval of the restructuring, which cannot be lower than 15% of the exposure, for all 12 
months of the recovery period. For the third and each subsequent restructuring of a previously restructured 
exposure that was allocated to stage 3 or POCI assets at the time of restructuring, the Bank determines and 
recognizes the expected credit losses in the amount of 100% of the exposure. 

For exposures related to cases when the debtor has not fulfilled its obligation to the bank no later than 60 days 
from the day when the protest was performed on the basis of a previously issued guarantee, the Bank determines 
and recognizes the expected credit loss in the amount of 100% of the exposure. 

If the Bank, in accordance with its internal methodology, determines the amount of expected credit losses higher 
than the amounts arising from the provisions of the Decision, the Bank determines and recognizes these amounts 
in the books. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

3.7.1. Financial assets (continued) 

(iv) Impairment (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2020 – Decision on credit risk management and determination of expected 
credit losses (continued) 

The minimum rates of expected credit losses for trade receivables, factoring and financial leasing 
receivables and other receivables are applied according to the table bellow: 

Days past due Minimum expected credit loss 

there is no material past due amount 0.5% 
up to 30 days 2% 
from 31 to 60 days 5% 
from 61 to 90 days 10% 
from 91 to 120 days 15% 
from 121 to 180 days 50% 
from 181 to 365 days 75% 
over 365 days  100% 

 

3.7.2. Financial liabilities 

(i) Classification 

The Bank classifies financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities at amortised cost. 
The classification depends on the intention for which the financial instruments have been acquired. The 
Management determines the classification of financial instruments at initial recognition and reviews that 
classification at each reporting date. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss have two sub-categories: financial instruments held for 
trading (including derivatives) and those designated by management as at fair value through profit or loss at 
inception. A financial instrument is classified in this category only if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term for the purpose of short-term profit taking or designated as 
such by management at initial recognition. The Bank has no financial liabilities classified at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities comprise all financial liabilities which are not at fair value through profit and loss and 
include liabilities to customers, liabilities to banks and other financial institutions and subordinated debt. 

(ii) Initial and subsequent measurement  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, while transaction costs 
are immediately expensed. Subsequent measurement is also at fair value. 

Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognised in the income statement. 

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition the Bank measures other financial liabilities at amortised cost using the effective interest rate.  
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

3.7.2. Financial liabilities (continued) 

(iii) Derecognition of financial liabilities  

The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or they expire. 
 
(iv) Modification of financial liabilities  

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability 
are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair 
value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration paid 
is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the 
assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.  
 
If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the 
liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective 
interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time 
of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective 
interest rate on the instrument. 

3.7.3 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it 
intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising 
from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.  

 3.7.4.  Specific financial instruments 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, unrestricted balances held with the Central Bank, current accounts 
with other banks and higly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition.   

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.  

Cash and cash equivalents exclude the obligatory minimum reserve with the Central Bank as these funds are not 
available for the Bank’s day-to-day operations. The obligatory minimum reserve with the Central Bank is a 
required reserve to be held by all commercial banks licensed in Bosnia and Herzegovina.  

Loans and receivables 

Loans to customers are presented at amortised cost net of impairment allowances to reflect the estimated revocable 
amounts. 

 “Loans and receivables” captions in the statement of financial position include:  

— loans and receivables measured at amortised cost (see Note 3.7.1), thet are initially measured at fair value plus 
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest 
method;  
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.7. Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

3.7.4.  Specific financial instruments (continued) 

Investment securities 

The investment securities caption in the statement of financial position includes equity and debt investment 
securities designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income.  

Financial guarantees and loan commitments  

‘Financial guarantees’ are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for 
a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in accordance with the terms 
of a debt instrument. ‘Loan commitments’ are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and 
conditions.  

Borrowings and subordinated debt  

Interest-bearing borrowings and subordinated debt are classified as other financial liabilities and are recognised 
initially at fair value, less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these are stated at 
amortized cost with any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and redemption value being 
recognised in the profit or loss statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method. 

Current accounts and deposits from banks and customers  

Current accounts and deposits are classified as other liabilities and initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs and subsequently stated at their amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

3.8  Property and equipment  

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost 
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent cost is included in 
net book value or is accounted for as separate assets only if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day 
repairs and maintenance are recognised in the income statement as incurred. Land is not depreciated.  

Depreciation is charged from the moment the fixed asset is ready for its intended use. It is calculated in the basis 
of the estimated useful life of the asset, using the straight-line method.  

Useful lives of tangible assets are as follows: 

 Useful life 2022 Useful life  2021 
 

Buildings 40 years 40 years 

Computers 3 – 7 years 3 – 7 years 

Furniture and equipment 5 – 10 years 5 – 10 years 

ATMs 5 – 8 years 5 – 8 years 

Motor vehicles 3 – 5 years 3 – 5 years 

Other assets 2 – 7 years 2 – 7 years 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the period they 
occur. 
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.9. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The cost includes all 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Useful life of intangible assets is as follows: 

 
Useful life 2022 Useful life  2021 

   
Intangible assets 5-10  years 5-10  years 

3.10. Investment property 

Investment property, which is property held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, is measured 
initially at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at 
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any recognized accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation commences 
when the assets are ready for their intended use and is calculated in the basis of the estimated useful life of the 
asset, using the straight-line method as follows: 
 

 Useful life 2022 Useful life 2021 
   
Buildings 40 years 40 years 

Rental income from investment property are classified within ‘Other operating income’ in the Statement of profit 
and loss.  

3.11      Assets repossessed from disbursement of loans  

The Bank may recover assets that were originally received as collateral for the loan after exercising contractual 
rights or undertaking specific legal actions. When both of the following conditions are satisfied, the relevant assets 
shall be included in the Bank’s balance sheet: 

• The recovery activity has been completed 

• The Bank has become owner of the asset 

The Bank classifies repossessed assets under IFRS 5 and subsequenty measures tham at lower of between book 
value and fair value less costs to sell.  

According to the requirements of the new Decision from 1 January 2020, if the Bank does not sell assets 
repossessed from disbursement of loans, it is obliged to reduce the value of the same to BAM 1 within three years 
from the date of initial recognition, while for assets recognised before 1 January 2019, its value must be reduced 
to BAM 1 within two years from the date of initial application of the new Decision. 

  



Notes to the financial statements for the year that ended 31 December 2022  
(all amounts are expressed in thousands of BAM, unless otherwise stated) 

ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo                                                                                                                 _________    46 
 

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting period date, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its property and equipment to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Recoverable amount is the greater of net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

3.13 Provisions for liabilities and charges  

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events 
for which it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.  

Provisions for liabilities and charges are maintained at the level that the Bank’s management considers sufficient 
for absorption of incurred losses. Management determines the sufficiency of provisions on the basis of insight into 
specific items; current economic circumstances risk characteristics of certain transaction categories, as well as 
other relevant factors.  

Provisions are released only for such expenditure in respect of which provisions are recognised at inception. If the 
outflow of economic benefits to settle the obligations is no longer probable, the provision is reversed. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.14. Employee benefits    

i. Liabilities for a contribution plan 

The Bank, in the normal course of business, makes payments on behalf of its employees for pensions, health care, 
employment and personnel tax that are calculated on the basis of gross salaries and wages, food allowances, 
holyday allowances and travel expenses according to the legislation. The Bank makes these contributions to the 
Government’s health and retirement funds, at the statutory rates in force during the year, based on gross salary 
payments.  

The Bank pays contributions to public pension insurance funds on a mandatory basis. Once the contributions have 
been paid, the Bank has no further payment obligations. The regular contributions constitute costs for the year in 
which they are due and as such are included in staff costs. The cost of these payments is charged to profit or loss 
in the same period as the related salary cost. 

ii. Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. 

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans 
if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by 
the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

iii. Long-term employee benefits  

According to local legal requirements, employees of the Bank are entitled to receive one-time benefit on 
retirement, dependent on factors such as age, years of service and the salary they had with the Bank.  

Such payments are treated as post-employment benefits and the liability recognised in the statement of financial 
position is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets 
(if any), together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs.  

This obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present 
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by applying a discount rate which is similar to the rate of 
return on corporate bonds in the Federation of  Bosnia and Herzegovina and the average interest rate of time 
deposit accounts held with commercial banks in the Federation of  Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
recognised immediately in profit and loss as well as all past service costs. 

3.15. Equity and reserves 

Share capital 

Shere capital represents the nominal value of paid-in ordinary shares classified as equity and is denominated in 
BAM. Dividens are recognized as liability in the period in which they are declared.  

Share premium 

Share premium represents the excess of contribution received over the nominal value of shares issued. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.15. Equity and reserves (continued) 

Statutory reserves 

Statutory reserve is created in accordance with the Company Law of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
which requires 10% of the profit for the year to be appropriated to this reserve until reaching 25% of issued share 
capital. If the statutory reserve does not reach 25% of issued share capital within five business years, a joint stock 
company is required to increase its appropriations to this reserve to 20% of its profit for the year at the end of the 
fifth and any following business years until reaching 25% of the issued  share capital. This reserve can be used for 
covering current and prior year losses. 

Retained earnings/accumulated loss 

Profit or loss for the period after appropriations to owners is transferred to retained earnings/accumulated losses.  

3.16. Earnings per share 

The Bank publishes basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data.  

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. The Bank does not have preference 
shares.  

3.17  New standards and interpretations  

Several new standards and accompanying additions are in place for the accounting period starting on 1 January 
2023. The Bank believes that the new standards and amendments to the standards will not have a significant impact 
on the financial statements in the period of first application. 
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY  

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions about uncertain events, including estimates and assumptions about 
the future. Such accounting assumptions and estimates are regularly evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors such as the expected flow of future events that can be reasonably assumed in existing 
circumstances, but nevertheless necessarily represent sources of estimation uncertainty. The estimation of 
impairment losses in the Bank’s credit risk portfolio represents the major source of estimation uncertainty. This 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty, that have a significant risk of causing a possible material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.  

Impairment losses on loans and receivables  

The Bank monitors the creditworthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis. The need for impairment of the 
Bank’s on and off-balance sheet exposure to credit risk is assessed on a monthly basis.  

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:  

‐ Note 3.7.1: classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets 
are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

‐ Note 5.1.1: establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for incorporating forward-
looking information into measurement of ECL and selection and approval of models used to measure 
ECL. 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 
adjustment in the year ended  31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 is included in the following notes.  

‐ Note 5.1.1.: impairment of financial instruments: determining inputs into the ECL measurement model, 
including incorporation of forward-looking information. 

‐ Note 5.1.1.: impairment of financial instruments: key assumptions used in estimating recoverable cash 
flows. 

COVID-19 

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the global economy continued to affect the Bank's 
operations, namely credit risk management and the determination of loan impairment. The speed with which 
countries in the region can return to the level of economic activity that characterized them before COVID 19 will 
vary depending on the effectiveness of measures taken by governments and banking regulators, the continuing 
spread of infection and the ability of governments to introduce vaccines in each country. COVID-19 consequently 
leads to increased uncertainty, especially in relation to the measurement of expected credit losses, and continues 
to require increased monitoring of the model's output to take into account all pandemic impacts. 

For more detailed information on the adjustment to the measurement of expected credit losses carried out by the 
Bank due to the aforementioned economic changes, details are explained in Note 5.1.1. 

The Bank continues to monitor and assess the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on key accounting judgments, 
estimates and assumptions. 

Taxation 

The Bank provides for tax liabilities in accordance with the tax laws of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina. 
Tax returns are subject to the approval of the tax authorities which are entitled to carry out subsequent inspections 
of taxpayers’ records.  

Regulatory requirements 

The Agency is entitled to carry out regulatory inspections of the Bank’s operations and to request changes to the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities, in accordance with the underlying regulations.  
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (continued) 

Litigation and claims 

The total amount of legal proceedings is BAM 1,030 thousand (2021: BAM 1,580 thousand). The Bank performs 
an individual assessment of all court cases and creates provisions in accordance with the assessment. The 
assessment of risks and proposal for provisions for legal cases is performed by the Legal Affairs Department and 
Finance Division, and a decision on the creation of provisions is made by the Bank’s management.  

As stated in Note 29, the Bank provided BAM 463 thousand (2021: BAM 642 thousand), which management 
estimates as sufficient.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Bank is exposed to risks in the course of its business activities. An informed approach to risk management is 
a central component of our business model. This is also reflected in our risk culture and our risk appetite. By 
following a consistent approach to managing risks, the aim is to ensure that the liquidity and capital adequacy of 
the Bank continues to be appropriate at all times, as well as to achieve steady results. The overall risk profile of 
the Bank is appropriate and stable. This is based on an overall assessment of the individual risks, as presented in 
this risk report. 

While the business strategy lists the objectives of the Bank for all material business activities and regions of 
operation and presents the measures to be taken to achieve them, the bank risk strategy addresses the material 
risks arising from the implementation of the business strategy and defines the objectives and measures of risk 
management. The risk strategy is broken down into strategies for all material risks in the Bank. The strategies are 
updated annually and are approved by the Management of the Bank following discussions with the Supervisory 
Board. 

The implemented risk management principles and strategies did not change significantly compared to the previous 
year. During the COVID-19 pandemic, a more conservative approach to risk management proved to be extremely 
adequate. The Bank recognized the risks as well as the extent of COVID-19's impact on the market and economy 
of Bosnia and Herzegovina and adjusted its business activities to the situation, and the main focus was on 
managing and maintaining the quality of the loan portfolio. Continuity is ensured for all key functions of the Bank. 
In order to adequately manage credit risks, the most exposed industries were assessed and the largest number of 
clients were contacted in order to identify the need for mitigation measures. 

The same emphasis persisted when the repercussions of the conflict in Ukraine became apparent and the bank 
assessed their impact on risk management. By analyzing the direct and indirect exposure of the Bank's clients to 
the risky areas of Ukraine and Russia, the Bank has a minor effect from the above exposures, and there was no 
materialization of risks. 

The Bank had no liquidity issues throughout the epidemic or the time that followed, which was influenced by the 
Ukrainian crisis, and there was no need to employ additional sources of cash. 

The rise in interbank interest rates in response to inflationary tendencies was reflected in the rise in reference 
interest rates. Increased activities to monitor interest rate risk are necessary as interest rates rise. On the side of 
approved client loans, there is a portion of the portfolio with a variable interest rate, but the bank only has a small 
number of sources related to interest rate referents. The bank started acting in accordance with the regulator's 
determination to tighten monitoring of any potential expansion in interest rate risk brought on by rising interest 
rates. 

Despite obvious signs of economic recovery in 2021 and early 2022, rising energy prices, tight supply chain 
bottlenecks, rising inflation, and particularly the war events in Ukraine at the beginning of 2022 contributed to 
additional uncertainty and increased energy prices as well as general inflation. The activation of steps to reduce 
inflation as a result of related impacts has increased reference interest rates that are reflected on the international 
money and capital markets. The Bank's risk management initiatives in 2023 will be centered on how this situation 
develops. The Bank will continue to monitor the situation in the country and global money markets in the coming 
period, in order to assess the potential impact on changes in credit, operational and liquidity risk and take adequate 
measures. 

The principles of our business strategy, explained below, represent the basis on which the risk management system 
is built. Consistent application of these principles reduces the risks to which the Bank is exposed. 

Focus on core business 

The Bank focus on the provision of financial services to small and medium businesses as well as to private clients. 
Accordingly, income is generated primarily in the form of interest income on customer loans and fee income from 
account operations and payments. All of the Banks’ other operations are performed mainly in support of the core 
business. The Bank assume mainly credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk in the course of their day-to-day 
operations. At the same time, the Bank avoids or very strictly limits all other risks involved in banking operations. 
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 5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

High degree of transparency, simplicity and diversification 

The Bank's focus on small and medium-sized enterprises entails a high level of diversification in the area of loans 
and deposits. In terms of client groups, diversification extends to economic sectors, client segments (SMEs and 
individuals) and income groups. Diversification of the loan portfolio is the central pillar of the credit risk 
management policy. An additional feature of our approach is that we strive to provide clients with simple and 
easy-to-understand products. The above leads to a high level of transparency, not only in terms of a specific client, 
but also in terms of risk management. A high level of diversification and simple and transparent products, as well 
as processes, result in a significant reduction of the Bank's risk profile. 

Key elements of risk management 

Risk management comprises identifying, quantifying, managing, monitoring, controlling and reporting risks. In 
managing risks, the Bank takes account of the “Minimum Requirements for Risk Management” (MaRisk), of 
relevant publications by national and international regulatory authorities and of Bank’s knowledge of the markets 
acquired over many years. The mechanisms designed to hedge and mitigate risks are monitored regularly to ensure 
their effectiveness, and the procedures and methods used to manage risks are subject to ongoing further 
development.  

The key elements of risk management in the Bank are presented below. 

 The Bank applies a single common risk management framework, which defines minimum standards. The 
risk management policies and standards are approved by the Management of the Bank and are updated 
at least annually. These specify the responsibilities at Bank level, and establish minimum requirements 
for managing, monitoring and reporting.  

 All risks assumed are managed by ensuring at all times an adequate level of regulatory and internal capital 
of the Bank, 

 The annually conducted risk inventory ensures that all material and non-material risks are identified and, 
if necessary, considered in the strategies and risk management processes, 

 Monitoring and control of risks and possible risk concentrations is carried out using comprehensive 
analysis tools for all material risks, 

 Early warning indicators (reporting triggers) and limits are set and monitored for all material risks, 

 Regular stress tests are performed for all material risks and for each individual risk category, 

 Regular and ad-hoc reporting is carried out on the risk profile 

 The effectiveness of the chosen measures, limits and methods is continuously monitored and controlled.  

 Processes and procedures for an effective internal control system are in place. These ae based on 
principles of segregation of duties, dual control and, for all risk-relevant operations, the separation of 
front and back office up to the management level, 

 New or significantly changed products undergo a thorough analysis before being used for the first time 
in order to ensure detailed new risk assessment. 

Organisation of risk management position and risk reporting 

The Management of the Bank bears responsibility for risk management within the Bank. The Bank has risk 
management department, a risk management committee and an ALCO, as well as specialised committees that 
address individual risks. These committees monitor and manage the risk profile of the Bank.  

At the Bank level, risk positions are analysed regularly, discussed intensively and documented in standardised 
reports. The risk department of the Bank reports regularly to the different risk functions within the Bank and the 
Supervisory Board is informed on at least a quarterly basis about all risk-relevant developments.  

The management of key risks in the Bank is described in greater detail in the following section. This includes: 
credit risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and liquidity and funding risk..  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Management of individual risks  

5.1  Credit risk 

The Bank defines credit risk as the risk that losses will be incurred if the party to a transaction cannot fulfil its 
contractual obligations at all, not in full or not on time. Within overall credit risk we distinguish between customer 
credit risk, counterparty risk (including issuer risk) and country risk. Credit risk is the most significant risk facing 
the Bank, and customer credit exposures account for the largest share of that risk. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk: 

 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 

Central bank balances 200,819 155,908 

Loans and receivables to banks 57,123 20,900 

Investment securities 49,255 5,082 

Loans and receivables to customers 541,481 504,322 

Other assets 132 281 

Contingent liabilities and commitments 94,369 84,027 

Total 943,179 770,520 

 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk 

The key objectives of credit risk management are to achieve high loan portfolio quality, low risk concentrations 
within the loan portfolio and appropriate coverage of credit risks with loan loss provisions.  

The Bank serves a broad spectrum of clients, ranging from relatively small business clients with increasingly 
formalised structures to larger SMEs. For our lending operations, we apply the following principles, among others: 

• Analysis of the debt and payment capacity of borrowers, including an analysis of future capital flows, 
• Documenting credit risk analyses and processes conducted during lending operations, ensuring that 

the analyses performed can be understood by knowledgeable third parties, 
• Strictly avoiding over indebtedness among credit clients, 
• Building a long-term relationship with the client, maintaining regular contact and documenting the 

development of the exposure within the regular monitoring reports, 
• Strictly monitoring the repayment of credit exposures, 
• Applying closely customer-oriented, intensified loan management in the event of arrears, 

• Collecting collateral in the event of insolvency. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

The Bank’s framework for managing customer credit risk is presented in the relevant policies and standards. The 
policies specify, among other things, the responsibilities for managing credit risk in the Bank, the principles for 
the organisation of the lending business, the principles involved in lending operations, and the framework for the 
valuation of collateral for credit exposures. The standards contain detailed explanations of the Bank’s lending 
operations with business clients and private clients and of the range of credit offered. They also set forth the rules 
governing restructuring, risk provisioning and write-offs. Thus, the policies and standards define risk-mitigating 
measures for the pre-disbursement phase (credit risk assessment) and the post-disbursement phase (e.g. regular 
monitoring of the financial situation, review of early warning indicators, and both intensified and problem loan 
management).  

The Bank divides its credit exposures into three categories: small and medium-sized business credit exposures 
and credit exposures to private clients. Depending on the client category to which the respective credit exposure 
is assigned, different credit risk assessment processes are applied. These processes differ from one another in 
terms of the following attributes: the degree of segregation of duties, type of information that provides the basis 
for the credit analysis, criteria for credit decisions, and collateral requirements. A strict separation of front and 
back office functions up to the management level is applied for risk-relevant operations. 

The experience of the Bank has shown that a thorough creditworthiness assessment constitutes the most effective 
form of credit risk management. The credit decisions of the Bank are therefore based predominantly on an analysis 
of the client’s financial situation and creditworthiness. Regular on-site visits are performed for all clients to ensure 
an adequate consideration of their specific features and needs.  

All credit decisions in the Bank are made by the credit committee. Its members have approval restrictions that 
reflect their expertise and experience. All decisions on medium credit exposures are made by credit committees 
at the Bank's headquarters. If the exposures are particularly significant for the Bank due to their size, the decision 
is made by the Bank's Supervisory Board. 

The most important basis for decision-making within the credit committee is the proposal for financing and the 
structure of collateral that is tailored to the needs of the client and depends on his risk profile. 

The Bank’s credit risk management policies limit the possibility for unsecured credit operations. Depending on 
the risk profile and the term of the exposure, loans may also be issued without being fully collateralised. As a 
general rule, credit exposures with a higher risk profile are covered with solid collateral, mostly through 
mortgages. 

The valuation of immovable collateral is based on assessments conducted by external, independent experts, 
included in the list of the Bank’s certified assessors. In order to ensure that a reduction in the value of the collateral 
is detected at an early stage and appropriate measures can be taken, plausibility checks of collateral value are a 
fixed component of the monitoring process for exposures. The assessments are updated at regular intervals, with 
plausibility checks being carried out by specialised Bank’s staff. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

Based on our collateralisation requirements, securing loans with mortgages is among the most important 
instruments for limiting credit risk.  

Type of collateral % of total 
31 December 

2022 % of total 
31 December 

2021 

Property 73.8% 375,741 73.6% 346,076 

Movable property 1.3% 6,371 0.3% 1,483 

Financial guarantees 23.4% 119,221 21% 98,854 

Cash deposits 1.5% 7,585 5.1% 24,115 

Total   508,918   470,528 

 
The value of collateral is based on the most recent appriaisals taking into account internally defined haircuts 
depending on the type of collateral. For each loan, the value of disclosed collateral in the table above is capped at 
the carring amount of the loan that it is held against. The early detection of increases in credit risk at the borrower 
level is incorporated into all lending-related processes, resulting in prompt identification and timely assessment 
of the financial difficulties faced by clients. 

Moreover, the Bank has developed indicators for the early identification of risks based on quantitative and 
qualitative risk features. These include, but are not limited to, declining account turnover or volume, high usage 
of granted credit lines and overdrafts over a longer period of time, and arrears. Regular recording and analysis of 
these early warning indicators helps to manage the performing portfolio, identify potential default risks at an early 
stage and take the required measures to avoid a significant increase in credit risk. Reports on the affected portfolio 
are regularly given to the branch managers, the Bank’s head office and in aggregated form to ProCredit Holding.  

Events that could significantly impact a portion of the loan portfolio are reviewed and taken into consideration. 
This could result in the imposition of risk exposure limits on specific clientele, such as in specific economic 
sectors or geographical areas. The Bank's initial priorities during the epidemic were to directly assist impacted 
clients and to examine the possible rise in risk for certain loan portfolio categories right once. The impact 
assessment for COVID-19 is integrated into routine credit monitoring in 2021 and in part in 2022. The evaluation 
is conducted with stricter criteria, especially for borrowers where we continue to identify increased risks from the 
pandemic's effects on enterprises or where it was used moratorium. In this process, the impact of the pandemic on 
the economic sector, as well as the state of liquidity and earnings, were taken into account companies. The higher 
the risk, the more intensive the monitoring. There is also an intensified monitoring process for new loan 
disbursements and their subsequent performance. As a result of intensified monitoring, risk classification 
downgrades were made where needed. 

Development and growth of reference interest rates and thus price changes on approved loans with variable rates 
imposes the need to analyze the impact of the effects on the creditworthiness of the bank's credit clients. The bank 
performs monitoring interest rate movements and possible disruptions to the repayment capacity of clients will be 
analyzed individually and reflect on the calculation of reserves for potential credit losses.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

The bank regularly performed credit risk analysis, and based on information provided by clients and data on 
exposures, determined the likelihood that the client would not be able to properly fulfill its obligations. As a result, 
the Bank properly classified the level of risk and performed impairment of the values. 

- Based on asset quality indicators, the Bank divides the loan portfolio into three levels of credit risk. 
categories: performing, underperforming and default. Exposures are attributed to these categories of 
credit risk levels based on risk classification and other risk characteristics of the obligor. Of particular 
importance is the classification of risks, overdue contractual payments (especially those overdue for more 
than 90 days), initiating bankruptcy proceedings or similar lawsuits, restructuring or liquidation of 
collateral by other banks, and other factors that significantly worsen the client's economic condition. 
Indicators provide a clear overview of the quality of the Bank's portfolio and are one of the most 
important tools for the credit risk management process. Stage 1 shows no signs of potential increase in 
risk. Although some exposures show signs of early warning, they do not necessarily result in increased 
risk. 

- Stage 2 includes exposures that show increased credit risk. This can be caused by temporary payment 
difficulties (30-90 days), restructuring or other factors. However, the Bank still estimates that full 
repayment of the exposure is possible, eg. after restructuring. 

- Stage 3 includes all exposures, most of which have shown long-term payment difficulties (over 90 days) 
or other negative factors, such as litigation. More details are described below. 

 

When a higher risk of default is detected for a credit exposure, it is placed under increased supervision. 
Supervision is based on close communication with the client, identification of sources of greater risk and careful 
monitoring of business activities. Decisions on measures to reduce credit risk are taken by authorized decision-
making bodies. Next to In addition, specialized recovery officers may be called upon to support more intensive 
credit management exposure. One of the first steps in managing such loans is determining the economic and 
financial situation client, as it is the most important basis for decisions on whether the exposure can be restructured 
or not. The goal is to they make such decisions at an early stage while the chances of stabilization are high and 
before the exposure enters advanced stage late payment phase. When credit exposure is classified as stage 3 it is 
transferred to officers responsible for the collection of disputed claims in the Legal Department, KUPIT and 
Compliance Department. The collateral sold through liquidation to a third party at the highest possible price, 
usually through a public auction. Most sold collateral consists of tangible assets such as land or a buildings. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

Assets obtained by taking possession of collateral (repossessed property)  

Details of non-financial assets obtained by the Bank during the year by taking possession of collateral held as 
security against loans and advances and held at the year-end are shown below. 

 
  31 December 2022 31 December 2021 

Real estate 2 - 

Land - - 

Repossessed property 2 - 

 
The Bank's policy is to pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. The Bank does not 
generally use the non-cash collateral for its own operations. 

Loss allowances 

Loss allowances are established in line with the defined Bank standards, which are based on IFRS 9 impairment 
model. The forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) model is the central element of the approach to 
quantifying credit loss allowances for on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments. The model calculates loss 
allowances considering the credit losses expected over various default scenarios in the future. The calculated loss 
allowances represent the sum of probability-weighted outcomes; ECL estimates are unbiased and include 
supportable information about past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

Three-stage approach 

At each reporting date, all credit exposures to customers are allocated among the three stages listed below, based 
on the development of credit risk since initial recognition. A specific methodology is applied for each stage in 
order to determine impairement. During the lifetime of an exposure, movement is possible between the stages.  

- Stage 1 comprises exposures for which credit risk has not significantly increased since initial recognition 
as well as those showing low credit risk as of the reporting date and for which thus there is no indication 
of a trigger for allocation to Stage 2 or Stage 3. Generally, all exposures are allocated to Stage 1 upon 
initial recognition, with the exception of those categorised as purchased or originated credit impaired 
(POCI) assets. For Stage 1 exposures, the expected credit losses arising from possible default events 
within the period of up to 12 months following the reporting date are recognised in expenses. For 
exposures with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, the shorter contractual maturity is applied.  

- Stage 2 comprises exposures for which credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition, 
but for which there are no objective indications of impairment. Loss allowances are established in an 
amount equivalent to the expected credit losses over the entire remaining maturity. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

- Exposures in default status (except from POCI) are included in stage 3, meaning that as of the reporting 
date, there is a considerable increase in credit risk as well as clear signs of impairment. 
On the basis of predicted credit losses and with a 100% chance of default status, the losses are calculated 
appropriately. 

- POCI (Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired) exposures refer to defaulted exposures; however, they 
are recorded separately and are differentiated from other exposures in Stage 3 in the recognition of loss 
allowances. 

Calculation of expected credit loss (ECL) 

The following parameters are used in the calculation of expected credit loss: 

- Exposure at default (EAD):  

EAD stands for the estimated amount of exposure at the time the loan enters default status. based on outstanding 
customer debt at the time and potential future adjustments allowed by the relevant contract clause. As a result, 
EAD comprises of the gross book value at the moment of the obligation's default status. The Bank used minimal 
regulation rates of credit conversion factors (CCF) for exposures that were off-balance sheet.  

- Probability of default (PD):  

the likelihood that the loan will default within a specific time frame based on previous default incidents. The data 
comprises information on the clients' risk characteristics as determined by the internal risk classification system, 
as well as the date, kind, and amount of arrears at the time the status was created. 
The parameters differentiate exposure risk levels in accordance with client categories identified at the level of the 
Bank and take into consideration country-specific characteristics. In order to examine gathered data and anticipate 
expected PD based on the scenario for the evolution of economic conditions, the bank employs statistical models. 
PDs throughout the remainder of one's lifetime of exposure. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

- Loss given default (LGD): 

The Bank implemented the minimum regulation LGD values at the end of 2022. 

The multi-year data history for all borrowers in the Bank served as the basis for the input data used to calculate 
the probability of default status. Regression analysis is used to evaluate the impact of customer risk factors and 
macroeconomic conditions on the parameters under consideration. Based on their statistical relevance and 
economic credibilty, relevant macroeconomics factors (GDP growth, inflation rate, unemployment rate) are 
chosen. The weighted average value for PD is determined using several macroeconomic scenario calculations for 
the projection year. The Bank employs three macroeconomic scenarios in accordance with IFRS 9: the basic, 
optimistic, and pessimistic scenarios, respectively, in the proportions of 50%, 10%, and 40%. IMF macroeconomic 
predictions serve as the foundation for macroeconomic projections. 

The fundamental macroeconomic variables that were utilized to establish the parameters of the ECL model should 
be appropriately adjusted in the long term in expectation of the war in Ukraine continuing to generate uncertainty. 
This particular adjustment is based on macroeconomic projections from the most recent IMF World Economic 
Database views, taking the long-term prognosis into account. The three scenarios (baseline, pessimistic, and 
optimistic) are weighted in order to determine the parameters. The macroeconomic variables used to calculate the 
ECL parameters on the reporting date for the forecast period are displayed in the following table: 

 
GDP growth in % 

  2022. 2023. 

Baseline scenario  2.45 2.00 

Pessimistic scenario  0.40 -0.05 

Optimistic scenario  3.97 3.52 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

As time goes on, adjustments to the aforementioned hypotheses could result in adjustments to the calculated 
impairment amounts. The Bank recognises that the setting of loss allowances for both collectively and individually 
assessed exposures may be significantly impacted by the management's discretionary judgments and assessments. 
Similar to this, the discretionary right is based on the definition of default that is actually used, the method for 
calculating the significant increase in credit risk (SICR), and a few macroeconomic variables. 

The following protective layers of the model are introduced to cover the consequences of crises that cannot be 
modeled and are reflected by empirically determined credit models risks: 

1. Internal model upscaling of default likelihood 

• Expert hypotheses drawn from crisis years noticed in the data history are used to formulate the protective 
layer. The fifteen-year history of defaults includes the Covid and the global financial crisis. 

2. Modifying the scenario weighting so that the pessimistic scenario is given more weight: 

• Negative scenario: 40% (up from 25%). 

• Upbeat scenario: 10% (down from 25%). 

• 50% of the medium scenario (unchanged). 

According to an internal evaluation procedure for current credit repayment capability exposure, risk categories 
are given based on both quantitative and qualitative considerations. 

  
12-months 
PD range 

  December 31 2022    December 31 2021 

          

Grade 1-5: Performing 0% - 1%  46.09 %  257,094  45.28%  237,167 

 1% - 3%  29.10 %  162,342  35.84%  187,724 

 3%- 5%  13.03%  72,712  5.80%  30,388 

 
5% - 10%  0.00%  -  0.98%  5,251 

Grade 6-7: 
Underperforming 10% < 100%   2.22%  12,404  3.04%  1,591 

Grade 8: Defaulted 100%  1.87%  10,414  1.75%  9,214 

Not graded* -  7.69%  42,898  7.27%  38,089 

Total gross exposure   100%  557,864  100%  523.424 

* Unrated category includes all private individuals and legal entities with an exposure of less than BAM 100,000. 

Expected credit loss for all performing exposures (Stage 1 and 2) and individually insignifficant non performing 
exposures classified as Stage 3 (below BAM 100.000) are determined using the collective assessment of credit 
risk.  Expected credit loss for individually significant Stage 3 exposures (above BAM 100.000) are determined on 
an individual basis (described in details below under Definition of default).   
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

A considerable increase in credit risk is identified using both quantitative and qualitative data. 
Comparing the expected PD over the remaining life at the reporting date and the expected PD over the remaining 
time frame at initial recognition is a quantitative test for SICR. When the difference between these two PDs is 
200% or more above the predetermined level, credit risk is deemed to have significantly increased. The 
Supervisory Board of the Bank has given its approval to the Management's proposal, which was supported by 
professional advice. The associated financial instrument is transfered from stage 1 to stage 2 in this instance. 

When establishing whether there has been a material increase in credit risk, qualitative factors are also used. 

When one of the aforementioned requirements is met, the exposure is transferred from stage 1 to stage 2: 

‐ Contractual payments that are past due by more than 30 days but no more than 90. 

‐ The client's status as being "restructured" (forbearance) in accordance with corporate policies (change of 
the terms of the original contract due to financial issues). 

‐ The client is on the watch list because there are indicators of a significant increase in credit risk;  

‐ The client's account has been continually blocked for more than 30 days. 

 
When there have been no missed payments for more than 30 days in the previous three months and no other Level 
2 requirements have been completed, a return from stage 2 to stage 1 is feasible. Additional two-year trial term 
during which no past-due payment may be unpaid for longer than 30 days applies to restructuring. The period 
starts when the contract is restructured or, if applicable, following the end of any grace or moratorium periods that 
were outlined in the repayment plan. 

Impaired credit exposures 

A credit exposure is considered as credit impaired and transferred to Stage 3 if one of the following criteria is 
applies at the reporting date: 

— Contractual payments are more than 90 days past due, 

— Loan repayment is not possible without the realisation of collateral, 

— The client is assigned to risk classification 8, 

— Cases of reprogramming with impaired value; 

— Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings for the customer, 

— Legal proceedings against the client that endanger the existence of the business or repayment capacity, 

— Allegations of fraud against the customer, 

— Client’s account has been blocked continuously for more than 60 days, 

— Client did not settle his obligations under the guarantee for a period longer than 60 days in the case of protest 
of the guarantee  

— POCI asset 

— Other signs of impairment indicating that the client will not be able to repay in full. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

Definition of default 

The Bank has adjusted the definition of impairement according to IFRS 9 to the regulatory definition of default. 
This is also the definition used for internal risk management and is applied to all exposures which are part of the 
Bank’s customer loan portfolio. The Bank considers an exposure to be impaired, and transferred to Stage 3, if at 
least one of the above criteria is met and the expected cash flows have been negatively impacted to such an extent 
that full repayment of the receivable can no longer be assumed.  

When determining provisions in Stage 3, a distinction is drawn between individually significant and individually 
insignificant credit exposures; the threshold is BAM 100,000. For significant exposures with indications of 
impairment, an individual assessment is performed to determine provisioning, taking account for the expected 
inflows, including collateral liquidation. For individually insignificant exposures, loss allowances are determined 
using parameters for the collective assessment of credit risk. Returning an exposure from Stage 3 to lower stage 
is possible if the customer is able to settle outstanding debts in full without recourse to collateral realisation. No 
migration between stages is possible for POCI exposures. 

Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired (POCI) exposures 

The Bank has separate rules for POCI (Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired) exposures. Within our business 
model, the acquisition of impaired exposures is not permitted. POCI exposures can only arise in a course of a new 
negotiation through significant modification of the contractually agreed cash. For POCI exposures, no allowances 
for impairment are made at the time of initial recognition. In subsequent periods, any changes to the estimated 
lifetime ECL are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss and reported accordingly as loss allowances for 
these exposures. 

Changes to contractual terms (modifications) 

Changes to the originally agreed contractual conditions of an exposures are possible, in particular with the aim of 
improving the prospect of repayment and, if possible, avoiding default, foreclosure or the realization of collateral. 
The Bank uses quantitative and qualitative factors to determine the existence of a substantial modification of 
contractual conditions. As a quantitative factor, the net present value of cash flows is determined in order to assess 
the changed condition of an exposure (The Net Present Value Test). In the event of a substantial modification, the 
original loan is derecognised and a new loan is recognised at its fair value at the modification date. In the case of 
non-substantial change, the gain or loss from modification is recognized in profit or loss.  

Write off 

When a loan is uncollectable, it is written off against the corresponding loss allowance which has been set aside, 
provided there is no justified expectation of repayment.  

In accordance with the Decision on Credit Risk Management and Determination of Expected Credit Losses, 
effective from 1 January 2020, the Bank writes off the balance sheet exposure two years after the Bank has 
recognized expected credit losses in the amount of 100% of the gross book value of that exposure. and declared 
it fully due. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

Credit quality analysis and credit risk concentration 

The following table provides an overview of the respective gross and net customer loan portfolio, as well as 

respective loss allowances: 

 

 

Stage 1 

Stage 12-month 

ECL   

Stage 2 

Life time 

ECL  

Stage 3 
Life time 

ECL  POCI  Total  

31 December 2022           
Business loans           
Gross outstanding amount 481,560   36,858   11,091   -   529,509  
Loss allowances (3,948)   (2,494)   (8,379)   -   (14,821)  
Carrying amount 477,612   34,364   2,712   -   514,688  

Private loans                    
Gross outstanding amount 25,800   1,904   651   -   28,355  
Loss allowances (922)   (126)   (514)   -   (1,562)  
Carrying amount 24,878   1,778   137   -   26,793  

 

 

Stage 1 

Stage 12-month 

ECL   

Stage 2 

Life time 

ECL  

Stage 3 
Life time 

ECL  POCI  Total  

31 December 2021           
Business loans           
Gross outstanding amount 458,096   25,240   14,687   -   498,023  
Loss allowances (3,160)   (2,801)   (12,025)   -   (17,986)  
Carrying amount 454,936   22,439   2,662   -   480,037  

Private loans                    
Gross outstanding amount 22,680   2,206   834   -   25,720  
Loss allowances (546)   (138)   (751)   -   (1,435)  
Carrying amount 22,134   2,068   83   -   24,285  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

Information regarding the creditworthiness of loans and receivables is provided in the following table. For 
guarantees of credit and monetary obligations. The figures in the tables correspond to approved or ensured sums. 

31 December 2022        
 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Loans and advances to 
customers 

        

Grade 1-5  471,924   20,224   -   492,148 

Grade 6-7  1,826   10,578   -   12,404 

Grade 8  -   -   10,414  10,414 

Not graded  33,610   7,960   1,328   42,898 

Total  507,360   38,762   11,742   557,864 

Less: imapirment  (4,870)   (2,620)   (8,893)   (16,383) 

Total  502,490   36,142   2,849   541,481 

31 December 2021        

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Guarantees         

Grade 1-5  44,559   5,311   -   49,870 

Grade 6-7  -   131   -   131 

Grade 8  -   -   -   - 

Not graded  2,252   356   -   2,608 

Total  46,811   5,798   -   52,609 

Less: imapirment  (100)   (86)   -   (186) 

Total  46,711   5,712   -   52,423 

 

31 December 2022        
 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Loan commitments         

Grade 1-5  19,235   3,130   -   22,365 

Grade 6-7  -   52   -   52 

Grade 8  -   -   -   - 

Not graded  3,483   433   2   3,918 

Total  22,718   3,615   2   26,335 

Less: imapirment  (60)   (39)   (0)   (99) 

Total  22,658   3,576   2   26,236 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

31 December 2021        
 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Loans and advances to 
customers 

  
 

     

Grade 1-5  447,689  12,841   -   460,530 

Grade 6-7  4,171  11,739   -   15,910 

Grade 8  -  -   9,214   9,214 

Not graded  28,916  2,866   6,307   38,089 

Total  480,776  27,446   15,521   523,743 

Less: imapirment  (3,706)  (2,939)   (12,776)   (19,421) 

Total  477,070  24,507   2,745   504,322 

31 December 2021        
 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Guarantees         

Grade 1-5  37,404  1,338   -   38,742 

Grade 6-7  -  39   -   39 

Grade 8  -  -   -   - 

Not graded  703  6   -   709 

Total  38,107  1,383   -   39,490 

Less: imapirment  (82)  (29)   -   (111) 

Total  38,025  1,354   -   39,379 

 

31 December 2021        

 
  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Loan commitments         

Grade 1-5  40,224   1,210   -   41,434 

Grade 6-7  -   182   -   182 

Grade 8  -   -   -   - 

Not graded  2,856   29   -   2,885 

Total  43,080   1,421   -   44,501 

Less: imapirment  (189)   (46)   -   (235) 

Total  42,891   1,375   -   44,266 

 

The credit risk of loans and receivables and credit lines and guarantees is presented through the internal credit risk 
classification. Not graded category relates to all private clients and business clients with exposure below BAM 
100,000.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

The following table sets out information about the overdue status of loans and advances to customers in Stages 
1, 2 and 3. 
    
31 December 2022    

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total         
Loans and advances to customers 
– gross carrying amount                 
Current 501,131   36,557   389   538,079 
Overdue < 30 days 6,211   1,639   297   8,146 
Overdue > 30 days < 90 days 17   559   709   1,285 
Overdue > 90 days 1   7   10,347   10,354 

Total: 507,360   38,762   11,742   557,864 

  
   

31 December 2021    
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total         

Loans and advances to customers 
– gross carrying amount                 
Current 471,304   25,649   72   497,025 
Overdue < 30 days 9,472   1,640   9   11,121 
Overdue > 30 days < 90 days -   157   840   997 
Overdue > 90 days -   -   14,600   14,600          
Total: 480,776   27,446   15,521   523,743 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

The following table presents gross and net exposures, broken down according to economic sector and by stage. 

31 December 2022 Business loans   Private loans     

In BAM '000 Production 
 

Wholesale 
and retail 

trade 
 

Transporation 
and storage 

 

Agriculture, 
forestry and 

fishing 
 

Other 
economic 
activities 

 
Housing 

 

Investment 
loans and 

OVDs 
 

Others 
 

Total 

Stage 1                                   

Gross outstanding amount 181,338   128,602   37,139   18,919   115,562   11,287   13,193   1,320   507,360 

Loss allowances for loans 
to customers (1,363)   (1,030)   (286)   (155)   (1,114)   (272)   (631)   (19)   (4,870) 

Net outstanding amount 179,975   127,572   36,853   18,764   114,448   11,015   12,562   1,301   502,490 

Stage 2                                   

Gross outstanding amount 7,228   11,310   2,520   1,122   14,679   1,522   378   4   38,762 

Loss allowances for loans 
to customers (528)   (727)   (192)   (63)   (984)   (100)   (25)   (1)   (2,620) 

Net outstanding amount 6,700   10,583   2,328   1,059   13,695   1,422   353   3   36,143 

Stage 3                                   

Gross outstanding amount 2,130   7,434   51   794   682   194   450   7   11,742 

Loss allowances for loans 
to customers (1,081)   (6,294)   (48)   (397)   (560)   (99)   (408)   (7)   (8,893) 

Net outstanding amount 1,049   1,140   3   398   122   96   41   -   2,849 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

31 December 2021 Business loans   Private loans     

In BAM '000 Production 
 

Wholesale 
and retail 

trade 
 

Transporation 
and storage 

 

Agriculture, 
forestry and 

fishing 
 

Other 
economic 
activities 

 
Housing 

 

Investment 
loans and 

OVDs 
 

Others 
 

Total 

Stage 1                                   

Gross outstanding amount 164,690   130,612   34,665   21,935   106,194   11,980   8,942   1,758   480,776 

Loss allowances for loans 
to customers (1,057)   (855)   (228)   (132)   (888)   (266)   (260)   (20)   (3,706) 

Net outstanding amount 163,633   129,757   34,437   21,803   105,306   11,714   8,682   1,738   477,070 

Stage 2                                   

Gross outstanding amount 4,403   6,324   2,149   300   12,064   1,641   565   -   27,446 

Loss allowances for loans 
to customers (502)   (701)   (150)   (15)   (1,433)   (108)   (30)   -   (2,939) 

Net outstanding amount 3,901   5,623   1,999   285   10,631   1,533   535   -   24,507 

Stage 3                                   

Gross outstanding amount 1,503   9,825   113   532   2,714   293   410   131   15,521 

Loss allowances for loans 
to customers (927)   (7,884)   (111)   (496)   (2,607)   (279)   (341)   (131)   (12,776) 

Net outstanding amount 576   1,941   2   36   107   14   69   -   2,745 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

Credit risk at the portfolio level is assessed on a monthly basis and, if necessary, more frequently. This includes an 
analysis of portfolio structure and quality, restructured exposures, write offs, the coverage level and concentration risk.  

Concentration risk in the customer loan portfolio is effectively limited by a high degree of diversification. This 
diversification is a consequence of lending to small and medium-sized businesses in various economic sectors and to 
private clients, and the distribution of the loan portfolio. 

The following table presents gross loans broken down according to business area, economic sector and loan size. 

31 December 2022 
up to EUR 

50,000  
 EUR 50,000 – 

250,000   
over 250,000 

EUR  Total 
      
Business loans     
Production 9,111 71,669 109,916 190,696 
Trade 10,944 61,329 75,073 147,346 
Transport and warehousing 4,482 17,341 17,887 39,710 
Agriculture, forestry 1,111 6,583 13,141 20,835 
Other business activities 9,307 48,351 73,264 130,922 
Total business loans 34,955 205,273 289,281 529,509 
Private loans         
Housing loans 3,735 8,489 779 13,003 
Investment loans and OVDs 9,462 3,031 1,528 14,021 
Other 446 885 - 1,331 
 Total private loans 13,643 12,405 2,307 28,355 
     

 Total customer loan portfolio (gross) 48,598 217,678 291,588 557,864 

 

 

31 December 2021 
up to EUR 

50,000  
 EUR 50,000 – 

250,000   
over 250,000 

EUR  Total 
      
Business loans     
Production 9,199 59,684 101,713 170,596 
Trade 11,055 60,470 75,236 146,761 
Transport and warehousing 4,649 17,274 15,004 36,926 
Agriculture, forestry 972 7,981 13,814 22,767 
Other business activities 9,574 46,791 64,607 120,972 
Total business loans 35,449 192,200 270,374 498,023 
Private loans         
Housing loans 4,943 8,155 817 13,915 
Investment loans and OVDs 6,882 2,492 543 9,917 
Other 422 1,466 - 1,888 
 Total private loans 12,247 12,113 1,360 25,720 
     

 Total customer loan portfolio (gross) 47,696 204,313 271,734 523,743 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

In addition, the Bank limit the concentration risk of their portfolios by means of the following requirements: Large 
credit exposures (those exceeding 10% of the regulatory capital of the Bank) require the approval of the Group Risk 
Management Committee and of the Supervisory Board of the Bank. No large credit exposure may exceed 25% of 
regulatory capital of a Bank, and the sum of all large credit exposures of a Bank may not exceed 150% of its regulatory 
capital.  

The quality of the loan portfolio in all client categories is monitored by credit control units at the Bank. They assess the 
quality of the credit analysis as well as compliance with internal procedures and identify signs of fraudulent activity. 
These teams comprise experienced staff who not only conduct on-site visits to customers in order to monitor the lending 
process but also systematically screen the portfolio for irregularities.  

Continuous training of the staff ensures that credit risk is properly evaluated whenever a loan is issued, and that credit 
exposures are closely observed throughout their lifetime and, if necessary, that appropriate measures are taken in a 
timely manner.  

5.1.2 Counterparty risk, including issuer risk 

The Bank defines counterparty risk, including the risk of the issuer, as the risk that a counterparty/issuer cannot fulfil 
its contractual obligations at all, not in full or not on time. Counterparty risk in the bank mainly arises from keeping 
highly liquid assets for the purpose of managing liquidity. There are also structural exposures towards Central Bank of 
Bosnia and Herzegovina in the form of mandatory minimum reserves.  

In order to minimize the counterparty's risk, the Bank conducts business with banks with high credit ratings, short-term 
placements and the Bank uses a very limited number of financial instruments. The Bank is prohibited from engaging in 
speculative trading and, where necessary, the Bank purchases highly liquid securities with a maximum maturity of up 
to three months.  

The Bank's exposure to counterparty risk increased compared to the previous year as a result of higher liquidity reserves. 

 
 

31 December 
2022 in % 

31 December 
2021 in % 

     

Central bank balances 201,208 65.37% 156,216 85.71% 

Loss allowances for central bank balances   (389)  (308)  

      Of which obligatory reserve 74,297  60,007  

       

      Of which other balances  126,911  96,209  

     

Current accounts with other banks (mainly 
ProCredit group) 

57,182 
18.59% 

20,922 11.49% 

Loss allowances for current accounts with other 
banks institutions 

(58) (22)   

Investment in securities 49,255 
16.03% 

5,082 2.79% 

Impairment - -   

Total 307,198 100.0  182,220 100.00%  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.1  Credit risk (continued) 

5.1.1. Customer credit risk (continued) 

As with client credit risk, exposures to counterparties and issuers are managed using a limit system. The Bank only 
completes transactions with other contractual parties after careful analysis and once a limit has been approved. Before 
purchasing securities, approval is also necessary, with the exception of those that were centrally issued or that were 
held by a central bank in local currency with a maximum remaining maturity of three months. During 2022 and 2021, 
the bank made no investments or term funds in other institutions. 

5.1.2  Country risk 

The Bank defines country risk as the risk that the Bank is not able to enforce rights over certain assets in a country or 
that a counterparty in that country is unable to perform an obligation due to convertibility or transfer restrictions or 
expropriation of its cross-border obligations. Country risk thus arises solely from cross-border transactions.  

The Bank is only exposed to country risk to a very limited extent through nostro accounts maintained with other banks 
(mainly ProCredit Bank member banks).  

5.2. Market risks 

Market risks are defined as risks of possible losses due to changes in market prices, such as exchange rates or other 
parameters which influence prices. Relevant market risks for the Bank are foreign currency risk and interest rate risk in 
the banking book. The Bank manages market risks in such a way that their impact is as limited as possible from an 
overall risk perspective. In line with the ProCredit Group strategy, currency risk and interest rate risk cannot be used 
for speculative purposes.  

5.2.1. Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the Bank incurs losses due to exchange rate fluctuations or that the Bank’s equity 

is reduced through currency translation effects. Foreign currency risk can have adverse effects on income and can lead 

to a decline in regulatory capital ratios.  

Results are impacted negatively when the volume of its assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies do not 
match and the exchange rates move unfavourably. The key risk indicator that captures the balance sheet discrepancy 
for each currency is the open currency position (OCP). Limits for OCP are set at the Bank level and also take into 
account limits prescribed by the regulator.  

The following table shows the open credit positions of the Bank in EUR and in USD. The position “other currencies” 
mainly includes CHF and other currencies with relatively small transaction volume. The banks keeps their significant 
amount of assets and liabilities in EUR and due to the fixed EUR/BAM rate the Bank assumes that this risk is very 
limited. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.2. Market risks (continued) 

5.2.1. Foreign currency risk (continued) 

31 December 2022  BAM  EUR*  USD  Other 
currencies 

 Total 

Financial assets           

Cash and cash equivalents   6,707   2,616   56   1   9,380 
Obligatory reserves at the Central 

bank of BiH 
 198,806  2,013  -  -   200,819 

Loans and advances to banks  250   39,837   16,805   231   57,123 
Loans to customers                    
   of which indexed to EUR*  193,033   348,448   -   -   541,481 
  -  348,448  -    348,448 
Investment in securities  49,170   85   -   -   49,255 
Other assets  121   10   3   -   134 

  
448,087   393,009   16,864   232   858,192 

           

Financial liabilities           

Liabilities to banks  -   13,793   -   -   13,793 

Liabilities to financial institutions  -   106,293   -   -   106,293 

Liabilities to customers  446,027   202,671   16,742   76   665,517 

   of which indexed to EUR*  -   59,880   -   -   59,880 

Provisions for off balance   208   65   12   -   285 

Subordinated debt  -  7,919  -    7,919 
Other liabilities  1,458   494   4   -   1,955 

  447,693   331,235   16,758   76   795,762 
          

Net position  394   61,774   106   156   62,430 

 

* The Bank has a number of agreements governed by a foreign currency clause. Due to the fixed relationship between 

EUR and BAM, the Bank is not exposed to significant currency risk from positions denominated in EUR. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.2. Market risks (continued) 

5.2.1. Foreign currency risk (continued) 

31 December 2021  BAM  EUR*  USD  Other 
currencies 

 Total 

Financial assets           

Cash and cash equivalents   5,822   1,975   558   2   8,357 
Obligatory reserves at the Central 

bank of BiH 
 155,848  60  -  -   155,908 

Loans and advances to banks  182   11,269   9,234   215   20,900 
Loans to customers  136,245   368,077   -   -   504,322 
   of which indexed to EUR*  -   368,077   -   -   368,077 
           
Investment in securities  5,013   69   -   -   5,082 

Other assets  
253   16   4   -   273 

  303,363   381,466   9,796   217   694,842 
           

Financial liabilities           

Liabilities to banks  -   29,217   -   -   29,217 

Liabilities to financial institutions  -   151,681   -   -   151,681 

Liabilities to customers  285,344   162,156   10,079   77   457,656 

   of which indexed to EUR*  -   12,550   -   -   12,550 

Provisions for off balance   293   52   1   -   346 

Other liabilities  1,454   404   3   -   1,861 
  287,091   343,510   10,083   77   640,761 

          

Net position  16,272   37,956   (287)   140   54,081 

 

* The Bank has a number of agreements governed by a foreign currency clause. Due to the fixed relationship between 

EUR and BAM, the Bank is not exposed to significant currency risk from positions denominated in EUR. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.2. Market risks (continued) 

5.2.2. Interest rate risk in the banking book 

Interest rate risk is the risk of incurring losses due to changes in market interest rates and primarily arises from 
differences between the repricing maturities of assets and liabilities. The aim of interest rate risk management is to keep 
these differences as small as possible in all currencies. This is particularly relevant against the background of the limited 
opportunities to manage this risk using interest rate derivatives in local currency. 

The measuring, monitoring and limiting of interest rate risk is based on economic value impact and P&L-oriented 
indicators. The risk is measured on a regular basis, at least quarterly. The assets and liabilities are distributed across 
time buckets according to the terms of the underlying contracts. Interest-bearing sight deposits and savings accounts 
are included in the gap analyses. 

At the Bank level, we assume a parallel shift of the interest rate curve. For EUR and USD the interest rate shock is ± 
200 basis points, whereas for domestic currencies the magnitude of the shock is derived on the basis of a historical 
analysis. Limits are set in relation to regulatory capital (non-netted in each case) for the economic value impact and for 
the P&L effect. 

For the purpose of reporting to the FBiH Banking Agency on interest rate risk exposure in the banking book, the bank 
uses a simple calculation to estimate changes in the economic value of the banking book, applying standard interest 
shock to banking book positions in all major currencies individually and for other currencies in total. The total net 
weighted position of the banking book is expressed in absolute amount and represents the change in the economic value 
of the bank's banking book that arose as a result of the application of the standard interest rate shock. 

 Economic Value Impact 

Currency 
31 December 

2022 
 31 December 

2021 

BAM (3,033)  (2,236) 
EUR (3,935)  (4,474) 
USD -  - 
Other currencies (225)  (137) 
Total (in BAM ‘000) (7,193)  (6,847) 

 

The Bank started with economic value impact calculations and the impact of changes in interest rates in line with the 

new regulation framework in 2018. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.3. Liquidity and funding risk 

Liquidity and funding risk addresses the Bank’s short- and long-term ability to meet its financial obligations in a 
complete and timely manner, even in stress situations.  

The Bank assesses short-term liquidity risk in the Bank on the basis of a liquidity gap analysis, among other instruments, 
and the Bank monitors this risk using numerous indicators. These include a 30-day liquidity indicator (sufficient 
liquidity indicator - “SLI”), a survival period and the minimum liquidity ratio stipulated by Capital Requirements 
Regulations - CRR (Liquidity Coverage Ratio, 'LCR') as well as a local regulator. The SLI measures whether institutions 
have sufficient liquidity in relation to the expected inflows and outflows of funds in the next 30 days. The survival 
period is the timeframe during which the banks are able to fulfil all payment obligations, despite reduced liquidity 
inflows and elevated outflows. The calculation applies outflows derived from historical analyses of deposit movements 
in the Bank. LCR indicates whether the Bank have sufficient liquidity to cover the net outflows expected in the next 30 
days, even in the event of a specified severe economic shock scenario.  

Market-wide, institution-specific, combined and longer-term stress tests are conducted monthly and ad hoc to make 
sure that the Bank keeps sufficient liquid funds to meet its obligations, even in difficult times. Moreover, the Bank has 
a contingency plan. If unexpected circumstances arise and the Bank proves not to have sufficient liquid funds, the 
ProCredit group has also developed a liquidity contingency plan and ProCredit Holding would step in as a “lender of 
last resort”. ProCredit Holding keeps an adequate liquidity reserve available for this purpose. The amount of the 
liquidity reserve is determined on the basis of group stress tests and monitored on a regular basis. 

The liquidity of the Bank is managed on a daily basis by the respective treasury departments, based on the Group 
ALCO-approved cash flow projections, and is monitored by risk management and ALCO. The Bank had enough 
liquidity available at all times in 2022 to meet all financial obligations in a timely manner. 

The bank did not see substantial client deposit outflows or liquidity position threats during the COVID-19 epidemic or 
the crisis brought on by the war in Ukraine, and the solid liquidity position persisted throughout 2022. Deposits at the 
bank increased significantly, and new credit agreements with other banks and financial institutions were made. 

The following tables show the undiscounted cash flows of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank 
according to their remaining contractual maturities. The remaining contractual maturity is defined as the period between 
the balance sheet date and the contractually agreed due date of the asset or liability, or the due date of a partial payment 
under the contract for an asset or liability. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.3 Liquidity risk management (continued) 

 

31 December 2022 

Carrying 
amount 

Gross 
nominal 

inflow/out
flow 

up to 1 
month 

1 - 3 
months 

4 - 12 
months 

1 – 5 
years 

over 5 
years 

Financial assets        

Cash in hand 9,380 9,380 9,380 - - - - 
Funds held at the Central 

Bank of BiH 
200,819 201,208 126,911 - 74,297  - - 

Loans and receivables to banks 57,123 57,182 57,182 - -  - - 

Loans and receivables to 
customers 

541,481 615,578 22,695 55,211 166,782 284,846 86,044 

Investment securities 49,255 49,405 - 20,020 29,300 - 85 

Other assets 135 135 123 - 11 - - 

Total assets 855,157 932,888 216,291 75,231 270,391 284,846 86,129 

        
Financial liabilities        

Liabilities to banks 13,793 13,793 5,930 7,823 73 - - 

Liabilities to other financial 
institutions 

106,293 106,293 97 1,477 17,745 74,268 12,707 

Liabilities to customers 665,517 670,081 430,804 16,417 130,474 90,270 2,116 

Subordinated debt 7,919 7,919 - 95 - - 7,823 

Other liabilities 1,956 1,956 939 58 253 705 - 

Ukupno obaveze 787,601 800,041 437,736 25,870 148,546 165,243 22,646 

        
Contingent liabilities        
Financial guarantees 52,609 52,609 52,609         
Credit commitments 
(irrevocable loan 
commitments) 

26,335 26,335 26,335         

Contractual liquidity surplus 146,500 211,791 (142,501) 49,361 121,844 119,603 63,483 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.3 Liquidity risk management (continued) 

31 December 2021 

Carrying 
amount 

Gross 
nominal 

inflow/out
flow 

up to 1 
month 

1 - 3 
months 

4 - 12 
months 

1 – 5 
years 

over 5 
years 

Financial assets        

Cash in hand 8,357 8,357 8,357 - - - - 
Funds held at the Central 

Bank of BiH 
155,908 156,216 96,209   60,007     

Loans and receivables to banks 20,900 20,922 20,922         

Loans and receivables to 
customers 

504,322 556,434 21,498 45,586 146,566 261,014 81,770 

Investment securities 5,082 5,079 - - 5,010 - 69 

Other assets 273 273 263 - 10 - - 

Total assets 694,842 747,281 147,249 45,586 211,593 261,014 81,839 
        

Financial liabilities        

Liabilities to banks 29,217 29,298 5,930 13,741 9,627 - - 

Liabilities to other financial 
institutions 

151,681 154,385 51 16,200 45,789 70,435 21,910 

Liabilities to customers 457,656 460,271 287,607 7,753 112,792 49,284 2,835 

Subordinated debt - - - - - - - 

Other liabilities 1,861 1,949 806 101 243 723 76 

Ukupno obaveze 640,415 645,903 294,394 37,795 168,451 120,442 24,821 

        
Contingent liabilities        
Financial guarantees 111 39,491 39,491         
Credit commitments 
(irrevocable loan 
commitments) 

235 26,403 26,403         

Contractual liquidity surplus 54,081 35,484 (213,039) 7,791 43,142 140,572 57,018 
 

Short-term liquidity risk is measured primarily by means of LCR. As of 31 December 2022, the LCR was 215% (2021: 
160%), and thus comfortably above the local regulatory requirement of minimum 100%. Additionally, the bank reports 
the net stable financing coefficients (NSFR). As of 31 December 2022, the NSFR was 146%, which is higher than the 
regulation standard of at least 100%. Funding risk, which includes some of the non-systemic effects of interest rate 
changes, is the risk that more funds cannot be obtained or can only be received at higher prices. The Bank's credit 
operations are primarily funded by customer deposits, with long-term credit lines from international financial 
institutions serving as a supplement (IFIs). As of December 31, 2022, client deposits totaling 666 million KM will be 
the main source of funding. (2021: 458 million KM). Financial institutions within the group and international financial 
institutions (IFIs) are the second largest source of funding. 

The Bank manages, measures and limits funding risk through business planning, maturity gap analysis and several 
indicators, including stress scenario on a vista funding withdrawals. The funding needs of the Bank, identified in the 
business planning process, are monitored and regularly reviewed at the Bank and at the group level. ProCredit Holding 
also offers bridge financing in the event of assessed need, and currently the Bank has stand by line approved by 
ProCredit Holding in the amount of EUR 5 million. A key indicator for limiting funding risk is the deposit concentration 
indicator. Two more indicators additionally restrict the level of funding from the interbank market. 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.4 Capital management 

Capital management in the Bank is guided by the principle that the Bank may at any time incur greater risks than they 
are able to bear. This principle is monitored using different indicators for which early warning indicators and limits 
have been established.  

The indicators for the Bank include, in addition to regulatory standards, a capital adequacy calculation in accordance 
with CRR requirements, a Tier 1 leverage ratio in accordance with CRR and an internal capital adequacy assessment. 

The objective of capital management is to maintain sufficient and adequate capital level which can in any moment meet 
all of qualitative and quantitative requirements. Thus providing normal activity of the Bank. 

The capital management framework of the Bank has the following objectives: 

— Compliance with regulatory capital requirements (normative perspective) 

— Ensuring adequate capitalisation in the economic perspective 

— Compliance with the internally defined capital requirements and creation of a sufficient capital buffer  

The capital management of the Bank is governed by internal policies and monitored on a monthly basis by the ACLO 
committee. 

Internal capital adequacy 

ProCredit Bank faces various risks resulting from its business activities. The Bank manages the risks appropriately and 
in accordance with their significance to the Bank. The risk catalogue is an instrument which should identify materiality 
of risks to which the Bank is exposed, to present the overall risk profile of the Bank. The risk catalogue is a basis for 
the Bank's risk management. The risk catalogue consists of the introductory document and a special risk catalogue table. 
The introductory document provides for an overview of the general risk catalogue framework, responsibilities and steps 
to be taken to assess individual risk categories. The risk catalogues provides for an overview of all potential risks and 
assessment of their significance to the Bank. 

The risk catalogue is regularly updated, at least once a year, or more often if required, starting the risk identification 
process and assessing their materiality. In determination of materially significant risks to which the Bank is exposed, 
and which will be included into internal capital adequacy assessment process, the type, scope and complexity of 
business operations are taken into account as well as specifics of market where the bank operates. Also, previous 
experience in risk management of the Bank and ProCredit Group are taken into account, including historical data on 
negative effects on financial performance and capital of the Bank.  

Identification and risk management is performed by Risk Management Department in cooperation with other relevant 
Departments/Units in accordance with the criteria for material significance for specific risk stated in risk catalogue. 
Similar risks are managed together with the main risk (e.g. credit risk). The risk catalogue is subject to discussion among 
all relevant Department/Units including the bank’s Management and Supervisory board.  
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.4 Capital management (continued) 

Within the internal capital adequacy assessment process the Bank has defined all requirements in accordance with the 
principles proscribed by Federal Banking Agency on risk management. Methodology of internal process of the Bank’s 
capital adequacy assessement and asessment of the adequacy of the liquidy position, including assumptions used in the 
internal methodology, are approved by the Bank's Supervisory board. This act define methodology of stress testing for 
ICAAP. The stress test has to be performed once per year as minimum. Information on stress testing are as follows: 

Risk Description Assumptions 
Credit risk Internal model with ECL rates Reliability level 99,8% 
Counterparty risk Internal model – reiting related to 

probabily of raiting migration and 
PDs 

Financial market’s stress: Ratings 
for the banks are decreased by 2 
notches 
 

Currency risk VaR Reliability level 99.8% 

Operating risk 
Analysis of the probability of the 
number of events and the 
probability of loss per event 

Reliability level 99.8% 

Interest rate risk 

Internal model - simple approach 
adapted to the specifics of the bank 
when calculating the modified 
duration and interest rate shock 

Interest rate shocks based on 
historical changes in interest rates 
with a confidence level of 99.8% 

Liquidity risk Internal and external factors Prolonged market stress simulation 
 

Regulatory capital adequacy 

Methods for the calculation of capital adequacy are based on the local regulation which is in line with Basel II 
requirement. Compliance with regulatory requirements are monitored on a regularal basis. During the reporting period, 
all regulatory capital requirements were met at all times. During 2022, the Bank was granted formal approval from the 
regulator to acquire subordinated debt, active from the last quarter of 2022 as a mean of additional capital (Tier 2). 

The capital adequacy ratio of the Bank is above the prescribed limit of 12%. Following table presents the structure of 
equity and capital requirements of the  Bank on 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021: 

In BAM '000 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Common equity Tier 1 capital 66,680  63,889 

Additional Tier 1 capital -  - 

Additional Tier 2 capital 7,823  - 

Total capital 74,503  63,889 

Risk weighted assets (unaudited) 417,772  373,820 

 

 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Common equity Tier 1 capital 16.0%  17.1% 

Tier 1 capital ratio 16.0%  17.1% 

Total capital ratio 17.83%  17.1% 
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5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

5.4 Capital management (continued) 

The Bank considers credit risk, counterparty risk, foreign exchange risk, operational risk, interest rate risk, liquidity 
risk with its associated subcategories and other material risks to be material risks for which internal capital and / or 
liquidity requirements will be calculated. 

Within the internal capital adequacy assessment process, for credit risk, the Bank will calculate the internal capital 
requirement using an internal model. The Bank will also conduct a stress test for credit risk in order to avoid a possible 
underestimation of credit risk due to the application of the internal model in crisis conditions. In addition, the Bank will 
calculate the capital requirement by applying the regulatory approach in accordance with the Decision on the calculation 
of the bank's capital. The Bank will compare the internal capital requirement for credit risk with the regulatory capital 
requirement in order to avoid a possible underestimation of credit risk due to the application of the internal model. The 
Bank will set aside an internal capital requirement for credit risk at least equal to the regulatory capital requirement. 

As part of its internal capital adequacy assessment process for counterparty risk (including issuer risk), the Bank 
calculates its internal capital requirement using an internal model (which includes a stress test). The Bank compares the 
internal capital requirement with the regulatory capital requirements in order to avoid possible underestimation of this 
risk due to the application of the internal model. The Bank allocates an internal capital requirement for counterparty 
risk at least in the amount of the regulatory capital requirement. 

Within the stress scenario for operational risk, ie the calculation of the internal capital requirement required to cover 
operational risk, the Bank performs testing based on historical data on the number of events during one year and gross 
risk exposure for the last 10 years with a confidence level of 99.8%. Based on the above data, the expected amount of 
gross risk exposure for operational risks is estimated. The total amount of risk exposure increases by 100% under the 
influence of stress factors. The calculation also includes risk exposures based on contingent liabilities arising from 
litigation in accordance with the expert assessment of potential loss. 

To calculate the stress scenario for interest rate risk, the Bank uses two approaches: the internal model of changes in 
the economic value of the banking book and the internal model of the impact of interest rate risk in the banking book 
on net interest income. A value with a greater negative effect on the bank is adopted as an internal capital requirement 
for interest rate risk. 

For other material risks, for which the internal methodology for assessing the internal capital requirement has not been 
adopted, 5% of the Bank's total risk exposure multiplied by a rate of 12% is allocated as a capital requirement. 

In the framework of the internal assessment of liquidity adequacy, the bank assesses liquidity risk as material. The 
internal effect on liquidity is calculated on the basis of internal models for short-term liquidity financing risk and long-
term liquidity financing risk. 

In additon, the Bank is obliged to ensure and maintan an additional leverage ratio which is not risk-based (financal 
leverage ratio). This is defined as the ratio of the Tier 1 capital to total weighted on- and off-balance sheet risk exposures. 
The minimum requirement for the leverage ratio has set at 6%. As of year-end the Bank reported leverage ratio of 7.2%. 

Leverage ratio 

 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Tier 1 capital 63,889  63,889 

Assets 928,764  756,485 

Leverage ratio 7.2%  8.4% 
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6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them by the 
level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised. 

           

31 December 2022 Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value 
Carrying 

amount 
        
Financial assets       
Cash in hand AC - 9,380 - 9,380 9,380 
Funds held at the Central Bank 

of BiH AC - 200,819 - 200,819 200,819 
Loans and receivables to banks AC - 57,124 - 57,124 57,124 
Loans and receivables to 

customers AC - - 560,756 560,756 541,481 
Other assets AC - 135 - 135 135 
Total  - 316,704 560,756 877.470 858,195 
       
Financial liabilities       
Liabilities to banks AC - - 13,545 13,545 13,793 

Liabilities to other financial 
institutions AC - - 90,843 90,843 106,293 

Liabilities to customers AC - 416,512 248,597 665,110 666,386 
Subordinated debt AC - - 7,730 7,730 7,919 
Other liabilities AC  - -  1,863  1,863  1,863 
Total  - 416,512 362,579 779,091 796,254 

 

31 December 2021 Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value 
Carrying 

amount 
        
Financial assets       
Cash in hand AC - 8,357 - 8,357 8,357 
Funds held at the Central Bank 

of BiH AC - 155,908 - 155,908 155,908 
Loans and receivables to banks AC - 20,900 - 20,900 20,900 
Loans and receivables to 

customers AC - - 504,008 504,008 504,322 
Other assets AC - 273 - 273 273 
Total  - 185,438 504,008 689,446 689,760 
       
Financial liabilities       
Liabilities to banks AC - - 29,298 29,298 29,217 

Liabilities to other financial 
institutions AC - - 154,386 154,386 151,681 

Liabilities to customers AC - 282,694 175,620 458,313 457,656 
Subordinated debt AC - - - - - 
Other liabilities AC  - -  1,861  1,861  1,861 
Total  - 282,694 361,165 643,858 640,415 
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6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them by the 
level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised. 

31 December 2022   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  

 

 
Treasury bills issued by resident Ministry of 
Finance Federation of BiH 20,037 - 20,037
Treasury bills issued by resident Ministry of 
Finance Republic Srpska 

 

29,133 29,133
Equity securities issued by non-resident legal 
entities -

 
85 - 85

 
Total  - 49,255 49,255
      
31 December 2021   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  

 

 
Treasury bills issued by resident Ministry of 
Finance Federation of BiH 5,013 - 5,013
Equity securities issued by non-resident legal 
entities -

 
69 - 69

 
Total  - 5,082 5,082
 

 

The Bank’s fair value determination gives the highest priority to (unadjusted) quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. For short-term financial instruments carried 
at amortised costs, the carrying value represents a reasonable estimate of fair value.  

Upon acquisition, financial instruments are measured at fair value. In principle, this is the transaction price at the time 
they are acquired. Depending on their respective category, financial instruments are subsequently recognised either at 
fair value or at (amortised) cost.  

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market between market participants at the measurement date. 

The Bank applies the IFRS hierarchy to measure fair value. The hierarchy categorises the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques to measure fair value into three levels. 

(a) Level 1 Inputs 

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date. A market is regarded as active if market transactions with the asset or liability occur there sufficiently 
frequently and in sufficient volumes to ensure the ongoing availability of pricing information.



Notes to the financial statements for the year that ended 31 December 2022 
(all amounts are expressed in thousands of BAM, unless otherwise stated) 
 

ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo                                                                                                                 _________    83 
 

6. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

(b)  Level 2 Inputs 

Other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly, the valuation techniques applied are approximations of the current fair value of similar instruments 
and discounted cash flow analysis using observable market parameters. The Bank applies individual observable 
interest and exchange rates, made available predominantly by the Central bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

(c)  Level 3 Inputs 

Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. If observable market interest rates are not available, internal rates 
are used as an input for a discounted cash flow model. These internal rates reflect the cost of funds, taking into 
account foreign currency effects and maturities as well as a risk margin, e.g. Bank’s Funding interest rates. Internal 
rates are regularly compared to those applied for third-party transactions and are consistent with the parameters 
of an orderly transaction between market participants under market conditions at the measurement date.  

Loans and advances to customers 

The fair value of loans and advances is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash 
flows. Loan repayments are assumed to occur at contractual repayment dates, where applicable. The estimated 
fair values of loans reflect changes in credit status since the loans were made and changes in interest rates in the 
case of fixed rate loans. The carrying value of loans with variable interest rate approximates their fair value. 

Deposits from banks, other financial institutions, customers and subordinated debt 

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the 
amount repayable on demand. 

The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings not quoted in an active market is 
based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. 

Fair value of term deposits with variable interest rate is approximately same as their carrying value at the reporting 
date. 

Market is considered active if quoted prices are easily and regularly available from trade, dealers, brokers, industry 
group, cost of services from regulatory agencies, and that those prices represent actual and regular transactions on 
the market based on the arm’s length principles. 
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7. INTEREST INCOME 

 2022 2021 
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest rate 

method   
   
Loans and receivables   

business clients 22,800 19,027 
private clients 2,129 1,694 
Banks 146 4 

   
Other interest income 122 135 
   
 25,197 20,860 

 

8. INTEREST EXPENSE 

 2022 2021 

   
Financial institutions 1,123 1,613 
Private and business clients 2,041 1,577 
Banks 946 720 
Subordinated debt 95 449 
Interest expense from lease liabilities (Note 30)  26  38 
 4,231 4,397 

 

9.  FEE AND COMMISION INCOME 

 
 

2022 
 

2021 
Major service lines   
   
Payment transactions 4,050 3,422 
Account maintenance fee 2,066 1,866 
Credit card business 456 315 
Other 613 566 
 7,185 6,169 
   
Letters of credit, guarantees and unused loans 1,104 899 
 8,289 7,068 
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10.  FEE AND COMMISION EXPENSE 

 
 2022 2021 
Fee and commission expense   

Payment transactions 1,404 927 
Credit card business 1,100 928 
Fees for received guarantees 1,092 858 
Account maintenance fee 17 5 

Other 75 67 
 3,688 2,785 

 

11.  NET INCOME FROM FOREIGN CURRENCY TRADING 

 
 2022 2021 
Income from foreign currency transactions 2,674 1,871 
Net gains and losses from FX revaluation (444) (102) 
 2,230 1,769 

 

12. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
 

 2022 2021 

Rent income from investment properties 156 171 

Gain from sale of repossessed assets 109 341 

Income from court fees collected 81 9 

Income from litigation settlements 75 - 

Gain from release of formed provisions 70 320 

Income from sale of property and equipment 6 17 

Other income 136 179 
 633 1,037 
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13. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

 2022 
 

2021 

IT expenses 2,843 3,423 

Advisory services 1,246 1,159 

Promotion and marketing 799 485 

VAT, other taxes and contributions 788 307 

Education and employments 586 552 

Security services  388 324 

Litigation services 322 339 

Energy, sewage, water 261 265 

Transportation expenses 244 148 

Post and telecommunications 221 230 

Withholding tax and other contributions 161 220 

Insurance 159 218 

Maintenance of fixed assets and equipment 155 296 

Lease expenses 139 136 

Membership fees 132 106 

Audit fees 115 233 

Office supplies 65 42 

Other administrative expenses 908 697 
 9,536 9,180 

 

14. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
 

 
 2022 

 
2021 

Net salaries and income taxes 3,192 2,798 
Social security expenses 1,867 1,644 
Change in provisions for employee benefits (Note 29) 107 94 
Redundancy payment 14 31 
Social security refund (6) (23) 
Other employee expenses 700 637 

 5,874 5,181 
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15.  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 
2022 

 
2021 

Deposit and loan insurance expenses 1,129 746 

Impairment of repossessed assets 39 591 

Provisions for court cases (Note 29) - 274 

Loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 76 

Expenses from litigation settlements 112 - 

Expenses for the previous period   - 7 

Other expenses 166 33 

 1,446 1,727 
 

16. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, NET 

The charge to income statement in respect of impairment losses is analysed as follows: 
 

 
 2022 

 
2021 

Impairment of loans and receivables to customers, net 
(Note 20)  2.158 2,862 
(Release) of impairement of other assets and receivables, net 
 (Note 24) (11) 4 
Impairment of funds held at the Central bank of BiH, net 80 109 
Impairment / (Release) from current accounts with other banks, net 36 (23) 
Impairment of investment securities - (5) 
Increas / (Release) of provisions from off-balance exposures, net 
(Note 29) (61) (65) 
   
 2,202 2,882 

 

17. INCOME TAX 

Total income tax recognized in the income statement can be shown as follows: 

 
2022  

 
2021 

Current tax* 780  345 
Deferred tax -  29 
 780  374 
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17. INCOME TAX (continued) 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate may be presented as follows: 

 

2022 2021 
Profit before income tax 7,868 3,051 
    
Income tax at a rate of 10% 787 305 
Effects of unrecognized revenues   - 
- tax nondeductible expenses 146 200 
- non-taxable income (25) (144) 
- tax credit (42) - 
Use of transferred deferred tax - 29 
Tax charge in the  Republic of Srpska* 491 148 
Underestimated amount of tax in the Republika Srpska from 
previous years * - 197 
Tax charge in Republic of Srpska under corporate income tax 
provisions of the FBiH (483)  
Utilized tax losses carried forward (94) (361) 
Income tax 780 374 

*Income tax charged in RS is calculated separately based on specific cost allocation for expenses and income 
incurred in RS.    

The change in deferred tax assets may be presented as follows: 

 
31 December 

2022 

 
31 December 

2021 

Balance at the beginning of period - 29 

Release of deferred tax assets - (29) 

Balance at the end of the period - 29 

Tax effect of BAM 940 thousand relating to tax loss of BAM 94 thousand - at 31 Decmeber 2021 can be carried 
forward and was taken by 31 December 2022. 

 
31 December 

2022 

 
31 December 

2021 
Expire in 2021 - - 
Expire in 2022 (940) 496 
Expire in 2023 - - 
Expire in 2024 - 444 
Expire in 2025 - - 

Total - 940 
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  18.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OBLIGATORY RESERVES AT THE CENTRAL 
BANK OF BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA 
 

 31 December 
2022  

31 December 
2021 

Cash in hand 9,380  8,357 

Funds held at the Central Bank of BiH 201,208  156,216 

Loss allowances for cash and central bank balances (389)  (308) 

Cash and central bank balances 
210,200 

 
164,265 

Loans and receivables to banks at amortized cost 57,181  20,922 
Loss allowances for current account with other banks (58)  (22) 
Obligatory reserve which does not qualify as cash and cash 
equivalenst (74,297) 

 
(60,007) 

Loans and advances to banks, termed as collateral 
(2,444) 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents for the statement of cash flows 
190,582 

 
125,158 

The minimum reserve requirement is calculated as a percentage of the average amount of total deposits and 
borrowed funds for each business day during 10 calendar days after the mandatory reserve maintenance period. 

From 1 July 2016, a single rate of 10% of total short-term and long-term deposits and borrowed funds is applied. 
Cash held as a compulsory reserve in the CBBH account is not available for use without the special approval of 
CBBH and FBA. 

Funds in the amount of  BAM 2,444 thousand are used as collateral for ProCredit Bank AG Frankfurt's issuance 
of a counter guarantee. According to the Banking Agency of the FBiH's instructions, the Bank reported the amount 
within the position of Loans and receivables from banks at amortized cost. 
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18.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OBLIGATORY RESERVES AT THE CENTRAL 
BANK OF BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA (continued) 

The changes in loss allowances for central bank balances are presented in the following table. All central bank 
balances are classified as Stage 1. 

 2022  2021 
Balance as at 31 December  (308)  (199) 

Newly recognized financial assets (Note 16) (81)  (109) 

Derecognition (Note 16) -  - 

Impairment allowances as of 31 December (389)  (308) 

The changes in loss allowances for current accounts with other banks are presented in the following table. All 
balances with other banks are classified as Stage 1. 

 2022  2021 
Balance as at 31 December  (22)  (45) 
Newly recognized financial assets (Note 16) (37)  (8) 

Derecognition 1  31 

Impairement allowances as of 31 December (58)  (22) 
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18.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OBLIGATORY RESERVES AT THE CENTRAL 
BANK OF BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA (continued) 

Credit ratings of banks where the Bank has current accounts are as follows:   

  
31 December 

2022 
Credit risk 

rating 

ProCredit Bank AG. Frankfurt am Main, Njemačka 16,947 BBB 

Bank im Bistum, Essen, NJemačka 17,046 AA- 

DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am 
Main, Njemačka 

17,127 AA- 

UniCredit Bank d.d. Mostar, Bosna i Hercegovina 251 B* 

Zagrebačka Banka d.d. Zagreb, Hrvatska - BBB 

Raiffeisen Bank International AG. Beč, Austrija 5,808 A- 

ProCredit Bank Sh.a. Kosovo 2 BB 

Raiffeisen Bank International d.d. Sarajevo, Bosna i Hercegovina - B* 

Gross value 57,181   

Less: impairment for credit lossess (58)   

Net value 57,123   

* Country credit rating     

 

  
31 December 

2021 
Credit risk 

rating 

ProCredit Bank AG. Frankfurt am Main, Njemačka 12,862 BBB 

Bank im Bistum, Essen, NJemačka 5,709 AA- 

DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am 
Main, Njemačka 

1,962 AA- 

UniCredit Bank d.d. Mostar, Bosna i Hercegovina 183 B* 

Zagrebačka Banka d.d. Zagreb, Hrvatska 174 BBB 

Raiffeisen Bank International AG. Beč, Austrija 23 A- 

ProCredit Bank Sh.a. Kosovo 9 BB 

Raiffeisen Bank International d.d. Sarajevo, Bosna i Hercegovina - B* 

Gross value 20,922   

Less: impairment for credit lossess (22)   

Net value 20,900   

* Country credit rating     
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19. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

During 2022, the Bank made new investments in securities, which it classified at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The holding of these securities is motivated solely by maintaining adequate liquidity 
positions. The Government of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina and the Government of the RS' 
investments in treasury bills account for the majority of the rise. 

  

31 December 
2022 

31 December 
2021 

Treasury bills – Government FBiH 20,037 5,013 
Treasury bills – Government of RS 29,133  
SWIFT shares 85 69 
   

Gross value as at 31 December  49,255 5,082 

 

Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are classified in Stage 1 on 31 December 2022. 

As at 31 December 2022, the Bank also held equity securities in the amount of BAM 85 thousand (2021: BAM 
69 thousand) in its securities portfolio. 
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  20. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES TO CUSTOMERS  

  The analysis of loans and receivables according to the original maturity is as follows: 

 
31 December 

2022  
31 December 

2021 

Short-term loans:    

      Short-term loans in domestic currency 120,649   103,802 

      Short-term loans in foreign currency (including indexed to EUR) 763   991 

 121,412   104,793 

    

Long term loans:    

     Long-term loans in domestic currency 78,235   36,883 

     Long-term loans in foreign currency (including indexed to EUR) 358,217   382,067 

 436,452   418,950 

    

Total loans before impairment 557,864  523,743 

      

Less: impairment (16,383)  (19,421) 

 541,481  504,322 

Interest rates on loans and receivables to customers as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are as follows: 

 
31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

  

‘000 BAM 
Annual interest 

rate  
 

‘000 BAM 
Annual interest 

rate 

Domestic currency      

   Business 195,192 2.60% - 13.81%  139,487 2.50% - 13.00% 

   Private 3,692 3.00% - 15.00%  1,198 4.50% - 10.00% 

      

Foreign currency       

   Business 334,317 2.20% - 12.81%  358,536 2.20% - 12.00% 

   Private 24,633 3.00% - 14.00%  24,522 2.50% - 9.00% 
 

557,864   523,743  
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20. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES TO CUSTOMERS (continued) 

All loans and receivables to customers are measured at amortized cost. The following tables show 
reconciliationsfrom the opening to the closing balance of the loans and advances to customers and respective loss 
allowances. 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

Gross amount as of 1 January 2022 480,776 27,446 15,521 - 523,743 

New loans and receivables originated 253,449 1,893 26 - 255,368 

Modification of cash flows  (289) (21) 18 - (292) 
Derecognitions (including write-offs) (90,503) (17,133) (5,664) - (113,300) 
Changes in interest accrual and principal  (98,969) (7,238) (1,448) - (107,655) 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (44,206) 44,206 - - - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (726) - 726 - - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 7,829 (7,829) - - - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (2,668) 2,668 - - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 106 (106) - - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - - - - 

Gross amount as of 31 December 2022 507,361 38,762 11,741 - 557,864 

 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

Impairement allowances as of 31 December 
2021 (3,706) (2,939) (12,776) - (19,421) 
New loans and receivables originated (2,130) (97) (51) - (2,278) 
Release due to derecognition 624 1,113 2,316 - (4,053) 
Transfers to Stage 1 485 (472) (12) - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 (471) 742 (271) - - 
Transfers to Stage 3 - (45) 45 - - 
Change in credit risk 327 (922) (1,706) - (2,301) 
Usage of allowance - - 3,561 - 3,561 
Other movements - - - - - 
Impairement allowances as of 31 December 
2022 (4,871) (2,620) (8,893) - (16,383) 
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20. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES TO CUSTOMERS (continued) 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

Gross amount as of 1 January 2021 391,347 63,435 12,247 270 467,299 

New loans and receivables originated 263,419 726 - - 264,145 

Modification of cash flows  116 (79) 18 - 55 
Derecognitions (including write-offs) (103,113) (11,210) (1,666) (270) (116,259) 
Changes in interest accrual and principal  (76,466) (13,856) (1,175) - (91,497) 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (36,137) 36,137 - - - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (20) - 20 - - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 41,572 (41,572) - - - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (6,284) 6,284 - - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 149 (149) - - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 58 - (58) - - 

Gross amount as of 31 December 2021 480,776 27,446 15,521 - 523,743 

 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

Impairement allowances as of 31 December 
2020 (2,762) (3,407) (11,460) (270) (17,899) 
New loans and receivables originated (2,124) (59) - - (2,183) 
Release due to derecognition 598 565 52 - 1,215 
Transfers to Stage 1 (2,424) 2,403 21 - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 296 (351) 55 - - 
Transfers to Stage 3 1 551 (552) - - 
Change in credit risk 2,709 (2,641) (2,495) - (2,427) 
Usage of allowance - - 842 270 1,112 
Other movements - - 761 - 761 
Impairement allowances as of 31 December 
2021 (3,706) (2,939) (12,776) - (19,421) 
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20. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES TO CUSTOMERS (continued) 

The table below provides a reconciliation between amounts showen in the tables above reconciling opening and 
closing balances of impairement allowances and impairement losses line item in the statement of profit and loss. 

  2022 2021 

   
Effects of the net cost of provision recognized through movement of 

impairment allowance 
2,180 3,395 

   
Modification effects, net 295 (34) 
Collected written-off receivables (320) (509) 
Direct write-offs 3 10 

Impairment losses, net 2,158 2,862 
 
Modification of financial assets 

The table below shows information on financial assets for which the contracted cash flows have changed during 
the reporting period. 

  
31 Decembar 

2022 
31 Decembar  

2021 
Financial assets modified during the reporting period   
Stage 1   
Amortized cost before modification 10,548 788 
Modification effect, net cost (295) 2 
Stage 2   
Amortized cost before modification 88 2,157 
Modification effect, net income (1) (34) 
Stage 2   
Amortized cost before modification - 100 
Modification effect, net income - (2) 
Financial assets modified from the date of initial recognition   
Gross amount of financial assets previously modified for which the 
amount of impairment was changed from life expectancy to 12-month 
ECL 

-  

   
 

The impacts of financial asset modification mostly apply to loans whose contractual terms have been altered as a 
result of changes to market conditions and reference interest rates increase. According to the adopted accounting 
policies, the effect of non signifficant modifications are recognized within net impairment losses. 
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21.  INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

Nabavna vrijednost 
31 December 

2022 
  

31 December 
2021 

Balance at 1 January 2,652   2,652 

Additions -   - 

Transfers (958)   - 

Balance at 31 December  1,694   2,652 

        

Accumulated depreciation       

Balance at 1 January 541   478 

Charge for the year 62   64 

Transfers (209)   - 

Balance at 31 December 394   542 

        

Balance at 31 December 1,300   2,110 

The Bank leased part of it headquorter building to third party which is then recognized as investment property. 
Carrying value of investment property reflects its current recoverable amount. The last assessment of  the fair 
value of investment properties was performed in April 2022 by the internal appraiser (cerfified court apprairesers) 
– Bank’s employee who has appropriate qualifications and recent experience in estimating assets at fair value at 
relevant locations – who assessted the value of the bulidng in the amount of BAM 3 million. The Bank's 
management believes that the carrying amount of the investment property reflects the actual, recoverable amount 
and no adjustment is required. 

The fair value of investment property was determined using the market value method (income method) which 
reflects current value on the market, taking into consideration object’s construction value and other factors 
(location, usability, quality and other factors). The fair value of investment property amounts to BAM 3 million. 



Notes to the financial statements for the year that ended 31 December 2022 
(all amounts are expressed in thousands of BAM, unless otherwise stated) 
 

ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo                                                                                                                 _________    98 
 

22.   PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

  
Building  
and land Equipment 

Right of use assets - 
properties 

Right of use assets - 
equipment other 

Total properties 
and equipment 

Cost      

At 1 January 2021 11,563 7,023 1,350 478 20,414 

Additions 35 202 - 128 365 

Disposals and write-off (353) (116) - - (469) 

Transfer - - - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2021 11,245 7,109 1,350 606 20,310 
            

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2021 (2,316) (5,864) (399) (149) (8,728) 
Charge for the year (297) (524) (205) (155) (1,181) 

Disposals and write-off  278 108 - - 386 

Transfer - - - - - 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2021 (2,335) (6,280) (604) (304) (9,523) 

Cost      

At 1 January 2022 11,245 7,109 1,350 606 20,310 

Additions 7 270 252 225 755 

Disposals and write-off (182) (1,169) (207) (236) (1,794) 

Transfer 958 - - - 958 

Balance at 31 December 2022 12,027 6,210 1,396 595 20,228 

            

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2022 (2,335) (6,280) (604) (304) (9,523) 
Charge for the year (299) (476) (213) (175) (1,163) 

Disposals and write-off  69 1,169 73 236 1,547 
Transfer (209) - - - (209) 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2022 (2,774) (5,587) (744) (242) (9,347) 

Net book value at 31 December 2021 8,910 829 746 302 10,787 

Net book value at 31 December 2022 9,253 623 651 353 10,880 
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23.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  Software Licences 

 
Softver i licence 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Balance at 1 January 1,404 1,856 990 5,134 

Additions - - 178 - 

Disposals and write-off - (452) - (4,144) 

Balance at 31 December 1,404 1,404 1,168 990 

      - - 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January (1,130) (1,441) (819) (4,818) 

Charge for the period (139) (141) (141) (145) 

Disposals and write-off - 452 - 4,144 
Accumulated depreciation at 31 
December (1,269) (1,130) (959) (819) 

Net book value 134 274 209 171 

 

24.  OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES 

  
31 Decembar 

2022 
31 Decembar 

2021 

Repossessed assets  2 - 

Short-term financial assets 201 347 

Advances given 59 60 

Inventory 7 6 

Other assets - accruals 864 851 

  1,133 1,264 

Less. impairment (66) (74) 

Other assets 1,067 1,190 

Repossessed assets are non-financial assets acquired in the process of collection of credit claims with the aim to sell 
these assets as soon as the conditions are met. Assets are recognized at the lower of fair value less cost to sell or net 
carryng value of receivables. Depreciation is not charged on the repossessed assets. Any subsequent impairment or 
increases up to the initial value is recorded under other operating income/expense.
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24.  OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES (continued) 

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance for financial 
assets:  

 Stage 1 
 

Stage 2 
 

Stage 3  POCI 
 

Total 

Impairement allowances as of 1 
January 2022 

(1)  (2)  (72)  - 
 

(74) 

        
 

 

New financial assets originated (6)  -  -  -  (6) 
Derecognition of assets 6  10  40  -  55 
Change in credit risk -  (9)  (32)  -  (41) 

          
Impairement allowances as of 31 
December 2022. (1)  (2)  (64) 

 
-  (66) 

               
  

 Stage 1 
 

Stage 2 
 

Stage 3  POCI 
 

Total 

Impairement allowances as of 1 
January 2021 

(1)  (1)  (68)  - 
 

(70) 

        
 

 

New financial assets originated (5)  -  -  -  (5) 
Derecognition of assets 5  9  26  -  40 
Change in credit risk -  (10)  (29)  -  (39) 

          
Impairement allowances as of 31 
December 2021. (1)  (2)  (71) 

 
-  (74) 
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  25. LIABILITIES TO BANKS 

  The analysis of liabilities to banks according to the original maturity is as follows: 

 31 December 
2022 

31 December 
2021 

Short-term deposits:   

Short-term bank deposits with a maturity of up to three months 13,793 19,633 

Short-term bank deposits with a maturity of up to one year - 9,584 
 

13,793 29,217 

   26.  LIABILITIES TO OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
 
 

 
Remaining maturity 

 

 

31 December 2022 
up to 3 
months 

 3 - 12 
months 

 
1 - 5 years  

more than 5 
years 

 without 
maturity 

 
Total 

            
Liabilities with fixed 
interest rates 1,520  17,466  66,724  12,707  -  98,416 

Liabilities with variable 
interest rates 54  279  7,544  -  -  7,877 

Total  1,573  17,745  74,268  12,707  -  106,293 

 
 
 

Remaining maturity 

 

 

31 December 2021 
up to 3 
months 

 3 - 12 
months 

 
1 - 5 years  

more than 5 
years 

 without 
maturity 

 
Total 

            
Liabilities with fixed 
interest rates 15,893  45,521  68,680  21,587  -  151,681 

Liabilities with variable 
interest rates -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total  15,893  45,521  68,680  21,587  -  151,681 
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  27. LIABILITIES TO CUSTOMERS 

 31 December 
2022 

31 December 
2021 

Current accounts: 368,537 245,698 

- Private 65,225 44,211 

- Business 303,312 201,487 

     

Demand deposits: 47,683 36,996 

- Private 41,447 32,025 

- Business 6,236 4,971 

     

Term deposits: 249,297 174,962 

- Private 42,433 37,422 

- Business 206,864 137,540 

Customer deposits 665,517 457,656 
 

  28. SUBORDINATED DEBT 

 31 December 
2022 

31 December 
2021 

   

Green for Growth Fund (GGF) 7,918 - 
 

7,918 - 

In 2022, one credit line issued by Green for Growth Fund, Southeast Europe S.A. has been active. Granted on 24 October, 
2022 in total amount of BAM 7,823 thousand (4,000 EUR), this amount of debt totals to the principal payment. Interest will 
be charged at 6M EURIBOR + 4.95% per annum rate. The debt is due on 31 October 2032. No principal or interest payments 
are passed due, and neither the Bank has exceeded or violated any contractual obligations. Funds granted from subordinated 
debt will be used to cover any potential losses, solely on the premise of the bank’s bankruptcy or liquidation legal 
proceedings. The debt won't be utilized to cover prospective losses in any other situation.. Under the premise of the bank’s 
bankruptcy or liquidation, the subordinated debt repayment will fall behind other liabilites. 

If permitted by the local regulator, subordinated debt can be used to raise regulatory capital.  
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  29. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES  

 31 December 
2022  

31 December 
2021 

    

Provisions for court cases 463  642 

Provisions for employee benefits 452  345 

Provisions for off-balance items 285  346 

Other 179  179 

 1,379  1,512 

Gurantees and loan commitments  

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into credit related commitments which are recorded in off-balance sheet 
accounts and primarily include guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments. 

 
 

 
31 December 

2022  
31 December 

2021 

Loan commitments    

Loan commitments (revocable) 15,242  18,098 

Loan commitments (irrevocable) 26,335  26,403 

 41,577  44,501 

Guarantees    

Performance guarantees 36,620  29,579 

Payment guarantees 15,989  9,912 

Letters of credit 183  35 

 52,792  39,526 

Total gurantees and loan commitments 94,369  84,027 
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29.  PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES (continued) 

Movements in provisions for liabilities and charges were as follows: 

Provisions for: 
31 December 

2021 
  

Additions 
 

Released  Used 
 31 December 

2022 
 

            

Long-term employee 
benefits (Note 14) 345  

 
107  -  -  452  

Provisions for court cases 
(Note 12, 15) 642  

 
112  (75)  (216)  463  

Provisions for off-balance 
items (Note 16) 346  

 
444  (505)  -  285  

Other provisions* 179   -  -  -  179  

Total 1,512   663  (580)  (216)  1,379  

 

Provisions for: 
1 January 

2021 
  

Additions 
 

Releases  Used 
31 Decembar 

2021  
 

Long-term employee benefits 
(Note 14) 251  

 
94  -  - 345  

Provisions for court cases 
(Note 15) 683  

 
585  (311)  (315) 642  

Provisions for off-balance 
items (Note 16) 411  

 
246  (311)  - 346  

Other provisions* 242   -  (63)  - 179  

Total 1,587   925  (685)  (315) 1,512  

 

*Other provisions mostly refers to the provision for default interest according to the Decision of the Tax Administration, on 
which the Bank appealed to the second instance body for decision-making. 

The total amount of legal proceedings is BAM 1,030 tousand (2021: BAM 1,580 thousand) which mainly relates to court 
procedures initiated by ex employees. The Bank creates provisions in support with its internal and external legal advisors 
and adjust the level of provisions based on the cirsumstances that exists at each reporting date.  

If there are a number of similar obligations, the probability of outflows required to settle the obligation is determined by 
assuming that the same obligations are involved.  

The following actuarial assumptions for 2022 were used to calculate the effects of provisions in accordance with IAS 19: 

a. Demographic assumptions: 

i. Average mortality rate – 0.82% 

ii. Average fluctuation rate – 2.62% 

b. Financial assumptions: 

iii. Discount rate– 2.5% and 

iv. Expected salary growth – 3.5%  
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  30.      OTHER LIABILITIES 

 
31 December 

2022  
31 December 

2021 

Lease liabilities 1,053  1,091 

Accruals 321  377 

Deferred income 278  257 

Liabilities to legal entities 225  160 

Liabilities to sppliers 147  185 

Liabilities to Central Bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina 69  - 

Liabilities to governments 21  21 

Other tax liabilities 2  3 

Other 161  146 

 2,277  2,240 

i. Lease liabilities 

Lease agreements relate to business premises in which the Bank performs its activities and equipment. 

 

Currency Nominal 
interest rate 

Agreed/ 
expected 
maturity 

 Present value as at 
31.12.2022 

Lease liability – business premises BAM 3.65% 2020-2027  456 
Lease liability - equipment BAM 1.61% 2022-2027  108 
Lease liability - equipment BAM 0.89% 2022-2027  118 
Lease liability - equipment BAM 1.13% 2020-2024  97 
Lease liability – bank equipment BAM 1.13% 2020-2023  6 
Lease liability –equipment BAM 1.13% 2021–2025  44 
Lease liability – bank equipment BAM 1.13% 2021-2024  25 
Lease liability - equipment BAM 1.36% 2022-2026  47 
Lease liability – equipment BAM 1.61% 2022-2026  65 
Lease liability - equipment BAM 1.61% 2022-2024  87 

     1,053 



Notes to the financial statements for the year that ended 31 December 2022 
(all amounts are expressed in thousands of BAM, unless otherwise stated) 
 

ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo                                                                                                                 _________    106 
 

30.      OTHER LIABILITIES (continued) 

i. Lease liabilities (continued) 

 

 

Currency Nominal 
interest rate 

Agreed/ 
expected 
maturity 

 Present value as at 
31.12.2021 

Lease liability – business premises BAM 3.65% 2020-2027  784 
Lease liability - equipment BAM 3.95% 2020-2022  42 
Lease liability - equipment BAM 1.13% 2024  144 
Lease liability – bank equipment BAM 1.13% 2023  17 
Lease liability –equipment BAM 1.13% 2021 – 2025  58 
Lease liability – bank equipment BAM 1.13% 2021 - 2024  46 

     1,091 
 

Amounts recognised  in profit and loss 

  2022 2021 

 
   

Interest on lease liabilities  (Note 8)  
27 38 

Depreciation of righ-of-use assets (Note 22)  
388 360 

Expenses relating to low value assets and short-term leases  (Note 13)  
140 136 

 

Amounts presented in the statement of cash flows 

  2022 2021 

 
   

Total lease outflows 
 401 405 
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31.  SHARE CAPITAL 

Capital is made up of 9,166,270 ordinary shares at nominal value of BAM 10. Equity instruments of the Bank are not traded 
in a public market, but are listed at Sarajevo Stock Exchange.  

The shareholding structure is as follows: 

Shareholders 
No. of 

Shares   ‘000 BAM   % 

      

ProCredit Holding AG&CO. KGaA, Frankfurt, Germany 9,166,270  10  100.00 

Total 9,166,270  91,662,700  100.00 

At the end of 2021, the Bank completed the previously started recapitalization, and at the end of 2021, the share capital was 
increased in the amount of 20,537 thousand KM, of which 11,733 thousand KM by cash payment, and 8,804 thousand KM 
by conversion of subordinated debt into capital. 

 2022  2021 
    

Balance as of January 1 91,663  71,126 

Newly issued shares -  20,537 

Balance as of December 31  
91,663  91,663 
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32.   BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit/loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. 

 
31 December 2022  

 
31 December 2021 

    
(Loss) / (Profit) attributable to ordinary shareholders (BAM 
‘000) 7,088  2,677 

Weighted average number of regular shares outstanding 8,220,953  7,389,725 

 
0.86  0.36 

Diluted earnings per share are not presented as the Bank has not issued dilutive equity instruments. 

 

33.   SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Bank is managed as one operating segment. 
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  34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

  Balances with related parties can be summarized as follows: 

 
31 December 

2022  
31 December 

2021 

Assets    
ProCredit bank Germany 17,193  12,862 
ProCredit Academy Germany -  - 
ProCredit bank Serbia -  - 
ProCredit bank Bulgaria -  - 
ProCredit bank Kosovo 9  16 
ProCredit Holding Germany -  - 
 17,202  12,878 

    
Management Board 34  6 
Family members of key personnel 28  43 
 62  49 

Total 17,264  11,927 
    

Liabilities    
ProCredit Holding Germany 29,687  82,818 
ProCredit bank Germany 13,793  29,217 
ProCredit bank Kosovo 40  70 
Quipe Germany 32  67 
ProCredit bank Serbia -  - 

 43,552  112,172 
    

Management Board 164  63 
Family members of key personnel 151  76 

 315  139 
Total 43,866  112,311 

 

 
31 December 

2022  
31 December 

2021 

Income    

ProCredit bank Germany 78  2 

 78  2 

    

Management Board 2  - 

Family members of key personnel 2  3 

 4  3 

Total 82  5 
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 

Expenses   

ProCredit Holding Germany (2,027) (2,844) 

Quipe Germany (2,242) (2,528) 

ProCredit bank Germany (827) (825) 

ProCredit Academy Germany (317) (425) 

ProCredit bank Serbia (109) (9) 

ProCredit bank Kosovo - - 

Quipe Kosovo (25) (43) 

 (5,547) (6,674) 

   

Management Board (497) (489) 

Supervisory Board (4) (4) 

Family members of key personnel (420) (373) 

 (921) (866) 
   

Total (6,468) (7,540) 

Fees to the Management and other members of the management: 

The following fees were paid to the Management Board members during the period: 

 
31 December 

2022  
31 December 

2021 

    

Net salaries 274  272 

Taxes and contributions on salaries 212  206 

Other benefits 11  10 
 

497  488 

 
  



Notes to the financial statements for the year that ended 31 December 2022 
(all amounts are expressed in thousands of BAM, unless otherwise stated) 
 

ProCredit Bank d.d. Sarajevo                                                                                                                 _________    111 
 

35.    EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE - THE IMPACT OF THE CONFLICT IN UKRAINE ON THE 
BANK'S OPERATIONS 

The Bank is a member of the ProCredit Group, which includes a member from Ukraine, ProCredit Bank Ukraine. Apart from 
the ownership relation, the Bank has no direct credit exposure or financial obligations to the Bank in Ukraine or other 
institutions. The impact of the conflict on the Bank's operations is strictly limited to membership in the same Group. 

On the other hand, the Bank's direct exposure to the risks associated with the conflict is manifested through the Bank's clients 
who have business relationships with customers and suppliers located in the affected areas. The Bank conducted an analysis 
of clients' exposures to Russia, Belarus and Ukraine. There are a total of 8 clients with relations with these countries, and the 
Bank's exposures to these clients amounts to BAM 4 million or 0.8% of the total portfolio, most of which are clients with a 
small share of market dependence on these countries and with good risk indicators. The Bank will continue to monitor 
developments that may have an impact on the operations of its clients or the Bank itself. 

The effects of the conflict cannot be clearly predicted until the moment the report is issued, and the Management Board 
believes that the conflict will not affect the Bank's operations in the forthcoming period. 
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